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Pursuant to Federal Rule of Appellate Procedure 27, defendant-appellant

Donald Longueuil (“Longueuil”) submits this Consent Motion for Summary

Remand to Recalculate the Order of Forfeiture imposed in this case.

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Longueuil pled guilty to insider trading. In connection with his sentencing

in July 2011, the District Court entered an Order of Forfeiture in the amount of

$1,251,685. The forfeiture amount was intended to reflect the gross profit

obtained by Longueuil’s employer – a hedge fund – as a result of the trading in

question. Longueuil, however, did not personally receive any of the ill-gotten

gains.

Subsequent to Longueuil’s sentencing, in United States v. Contorinis, 692

F.3d 136, 145-46, 148 (2d Cir. 2012), this Court held that a defendant in a criminal

insider trading case cannot be ordered to forfeit profits that he never received or

possessed.

The parties agree that, in light of current law in this Circuit, the Order of

Forfeiture imposed against Longueuil was plainly erroneous. Therefore, in the

interests of justice, this Court should vacate the Order of Forfeiture and remand to

the District Court with instructions to recalculate the appropriate amount of

forfeiture, if any, consistent with Contorinis.
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II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Offense Conduct

Longueuil was employed as a research analyst and managing director at

Empire Capital, LLC (“Empire”), a Connecticut hedge fund. On May 28, 2008,

based upon material non-public information provided by a co-conspirator relating

to an upcoming quarterly earnings announcement, Longueuil made a

recommendation that Empire’s portfolio managers purchase approximately

400,000 shares of Marvell Technology Group, Ltd. (“Marvell”) (PSR ¶47).1

After the earnings announcement on May 29, and a jump in the share price, Empire

began to sell off its overall position in Marvell. The gross profit to the hedge fund

associated with the sale of the 400,000 Marvell shares purchased on Longueuil’s

recommendation was determined to be approximately $1,251,685.2

1 “PSR” refers to the final version of the Presentence Investigation Report,
issued on July 20, 2011.

2 PSR ¶¶ 44, 47; Government’s Sentencing Memorandum at 5-6, United
States v. Longueuil, 11 Cr. 161 (S.D.N.Y. July 21, 2011), Docket No. 110,
Defendant’s Sentencing Memorandum at 5, Longueuil, 11 Cr. (July 22,
2011), Docket No. 111.
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B. Longueuil’s Plea and Sentence

Superseding Indictment S1 11 Cr. 161(JSR) was filed in the Southern

District of New York on March 8, 2011.3 On April 28, 2011, Longueuil pleaded

guilty to Counts Three and Four of the Superseding Indictment pursuant to a

written plea agreement.4 Count Three charged Longueuil with conspiracy to

commit securities fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.

Count Four charged him with securities fraud, in violation of Title 15, United

States Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78ff. As part of his plea agreement, Longueuil

agreed to forfeit the sum of $1,251,685, representing the proceeds from the above-

described offense conduct.

On July 29, 2011, Judge Rakoff sentenced Longueuil to 30 months

imprisonment, two years supervised release, and imposed the forfeiture of

$1,251,685.5 The Order of Forfeiture was entered on August 10, 2011.6

3 A copy of the Superseding Indictment is attached to the Declaration of
Sujata M. Jhaveri (“Jhaveri Declaration”) as Exhibit 1.

4 A copy of the plea agreement is attached to the Jhaveri Declaration as
Exhibit 2. Longueuil was represented at his plea and sentencing by prior
counsel.

5 On July 29, 2011, Longueuil wired $1,251,685 to the U.S. Marshals Service
in full satisfaction of his forfeiture obligation.

6 Copies of the Judgment, sentencing transcript, and Order of Forfeiture are
attached to the Jhaveri Declaration as Exhibits 3, 4, and 5, respectively.
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C. The Contorinis Decision

About a year later, on August 17, 2012, the Second Circuit issued its

decision in United States v. Contorinis, in which the Court held that a defendant in

a criminal insider trading case cannot be ordered to forfeit profits that he never

received or possessed. 692 F.3d at 145-46, 148.

Contorinis was a hedge fund portfolio manager. As such, he made

investment recommendations but did not control disbursements of profits.

Contorinis befriended an individual in the mergers and acquisitions group at an

investment bank. Id. at 139. The investment banker provided Contorinis with

confidential information about the acquisition of Albertsons grocery stores

(“ABS”). Id.

Contorinis then purchased and sold ABS shares for the hedge fund, resulting

in net profits (in gains and losses avoided) of approximately $12.65 million. Id. at

139-41. He was convicted of conspiracy and insider trading charges. At

sentencing, the District Court ordered him to forfeit $12.65 million – the profits

gained by the hedge fund on the trades made in his capacity as a fund agent. Id. at

141.

On appeal, Contorinis argued that as an employee and small equity owner of

the fund, he could not be ordered to forfeit profits which he did not receive. Id. at

145. In its opinion, this Court agreed, holding that “the district court erred in

Case 15-570, Document 11, 03/02/2015, 1449929, Page6 of 86



5

ordering appellant to forfeit funds that were never possessed or controlled by

himself or others acting in concert with him.” Id. at 148.

In so ruling, the Court noted that criminal forfeiture focuses on

disgorgement of a defendant’s ill-gotten gains; “[t]hus the calculation of a

forfeiture amount in criminal cases is usually based on the defendant’s actual

gain.” Id. at 146. The Court observed that in an insider trading case, “[t]he

definition of proceeds” under Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(2)(B)

would be “the amount of money acquired through the illegal transactions resulting

in the forfeiture, less the direct costs incurred in providing the goods or services.”

Id. at 145 (citation and quotation omitted). The Court explained that “[b]ecause

the ‘proceeds’ sought by the government here were ‘acquired’ by the Fund over

which appellant lacks control, it is difficult to square the [criminal forfeiture]

statute with the forfeiture order.” Id. at 146. The Court concluded that “extending

the scope of a forfeiture to include proceeds that have never been acquired either

by a defendant or his joint actors would be at odds with the broadly accepted

principle that forfeiture is calculated based on a defendant’s gains” and remanded

to the District Court to determine the proper forfeiture amount. Id. at 147-48.

Contorinis thus establishes that criminal forfeiture in insider trading cases is

limited solely to those funds which the defendant personally received in connection

with the offense.
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D. Agreement with the Government

This firm has been retained to assist Longueuil in seeking post-sentence

forfeiture relief. After discussions between the parties regarding the impact of the

Contorinis ruling on the forfeiture imposed in this case, the Government has

agreed to waive any objection to this appeal based on timeliness.7 The

Government also has agreed not to object based on any provision in Longueuil’s

plea agreement that might otherwise be construed as foreclosing an appeal under

these circumstances.8 Finally, it is our understanding that the Government

consents to the relief requested herein, namely a remand to recalculate the Order of

Forfeiture consistent with Contorinis.

In accordance with those understandings, and in anticipation of the filing of

this Consent Motion, Longueuil filed a Notice of Appeal on February 24, 2015.

7 Rule 4(b) of the Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure is non-jurisdictional
and thus the Government may waive any objection to an untimely appeal.
United States v. Frias, 521 F.3d 229, 234 (2d Cir. 2008). We note that this
Court has permitted otherwise untimely appeals to proceed in the absence of
an objection from the Government. See, e.g., United States v. Mock, 612
F.3d 133, 135 n.1 (2d Cir. 2010); United States v. Blue, 374 F. App’x 226,
227 n.1 (2d Cir. 2010) (Summary Order); United States v. Keith, 322 F.
App’x 28, 30 & n.2 (2d Cir. 2009) (Summary Order).

8 In his Plea Agreement Longueuil agreed to waive an appeal or collateral
challenge of any sentence within or below the Sentencing Guidelines range.
The agreement did not, however, specifically include a waiver with respect
to any monetary penalty to be imposed at sentencing.
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Accordingly, this case represents Longueuil’s direct appeal from the Order of

Forfeiture.

III. ARGUMENT

Because Contorinis had not yet been decided at the time of his sentencing,

Longueuil did not raise any objection to the Order of Forfeiture based on the

reasoning subsequently adopted by this Court in that case. Accordingly, on this

direct appeal, this Court should review Longueuil’s challenge to the Order of

Forfeiture for plain error. See, e.g., United States v. Uddin, 551 F.3d 176, 181 (2d

Cir. 2009) (unpreserved forfeiture challenge reviewed for plain error). Under that

standard, “[f]or this Court to correct the forfeiture amount, there must be (1) error,

(2) that is plain, and (3) that affects substantial rights. If all three conditions are

met, an appellate court may then exercise its discretion to notice a forfeited error,

but only if (4) the error seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation

of judicial proceedings.” Id. at 181 (internal quotation marks and citation

omitted).9

9 Arguably, because the error resulted from a “supervening legal decision,”
the standard would be modified plain error, pursuant to which (if the
standard exists) the burden would be “on the government to demonstrate that
the error did not affect the defendant’s substantial rights,” rather than on the
defendant. United States v. Vilar, 729 F.3d 62, 71 n.5 (2d Cir. 2013). This
Court has “on at least twenty-two occasions . . . declined to resolve th[e]
question” of whether the modified plain error standard is consistent with
Supreme Court precedent “because its answer has never affected the result in
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As to the first two factors – whether there was an error that is plain – this

Court applies the law as it is now, not as it was at the time the Order of Forfeiture

was entered. See Henderson v. United States, 133 S. Ct. 1121, 1130-31 (2013)

(“[W]e conclude that whether a legal question was settled or unsettled at the time

of trial, it is enough that an error be ‘plain’ at the time of appellate consideration

for the second part of the four-part [plain error] . . . test to be satisfied”) (internal

quotation marks and citation omitted) (alterations omitted). Here, in light of

Contorinis, the parties agree that the Order of Forfeiture was plainly erroneous.

In addition, as to the third factor, the parties agree that the error affected

Longueuil’s substantial rights. The forfeiture deprived Longueuil of

approximately $1.2 million in personal savings, none of which was derived from

the offense conduct. It caused him erroneously to pay a significant amount in

forfeiture – the precise size of which can be determined on remand – that he should

not have been required to pay.

Finally, as to the fourth factor – whether the error seriously affects the

fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings – the parties agree

that under the specific circumstances of this case, this factor is also satisfied.

Specifically, in connection with an appeal of the forfeiture judgment imposed

any case.” Id. The parties submit that it does not affect the result here
either.
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against Longueuil’s co-defendant, Winifred Jiau, the Government and this Court

agreed that a limited remand to the District Court was necessary to reconsider the

amount of forfeiture in light of the intervening decision in Contorinis. See United

States v. Jiau, 545 F. App’x 34, 36 (2d Cir. 2013) (Summary Order).10 Longueuil

in fairness should be accorded the same treatment as his co-defendant.

IV. CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the Court should vacate the Order of

Forfeiture and remand this case to the District Court for the limited purpose of re-

calculating forfeiture consistent with Contorinis.

Dated: March 2, 2015

Respectfully submitted,

By: /s/ Evan T. Barr
Evan T. Barr
Sujata M. Jhaveri
FRIED FRANK HARRIS SHRIVER
& JACOBSON LLP
One New York Plaza
New York, New York 10004
(212) 859-8000
evan.barr@friedfrank.com

Counsel for Defendant-Appellant
Donald Longueuil

10 On remand, Jiau’s forfeiture was reduced from $3,118,000 to $814,736.74.
See United States v. Jiau, No. S1 11 Cr. 161 (S.D.N.Y. June 9, 2014),
Docket No. 202.
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UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
FOR THE SECOND CIRCUIT 

x 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

Appellee, 
v. 

JIAU (LONGUEUIL), 

Appellant. 

Case No. 	15-570 

	 x 

DECLARATION OF SUJATA M. JHAVERI  

I, Sujata M. Jhaveri, hereby declare as follows: 

1. I am an attorney licensed and admitted to practice law in the State of New 

York and before this Court. I am an associate at the law firm of Fried, Frank, 

Harris, Shriver & Jacobson LLP counsel to Appellant Donald Longueuil 

("Longueuil") in the above-captioned action. 

2. I respectfully submit this declaration and annexed exhibits in support of a 

Consent Motion for Summary Remand to Re-Calculate Order of Forfeiture (the 

"Consent Motion"). Unless otherwise stated, this Declaration is based upon my 

personal knowledge. 

3. A copy of Superseding Indictment S1 11 Cr. 161, as referenced in the 

Consent Motion, is attached hereto as Exhibit 1. 
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4. 	A copy of the Plea Agreement dated April 27, 2011, as referenced in the 

Consent Motion, is attached hereto as Exhibit 2. 

5. A copy of the Judgment against Longueuil filed on August 10, 2011, as 

referenced in the Consent Motion, is attached hereto as Exhibit 3. 

6. A copy of Longueuil's sentencing transcript dated July 29, 2011, as 

referenced in the Consent Motion, is attached hereto as Exhibit 4. 

7. A copy of the Order of Forfeiture, as referenced in the Consent Motion, is 

attached hereto as Exhibit 5. 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. 

Dated: 	March 2, 2015 
New York, New York 

Ve74, C_ThOi AAQ't 4) 
Sujata M. Jhaveri 

2 
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DOCUM •'*1-17 
ELECIR6NICALLY FEE) 
rx)c, 

LDATE FILED: '5- - 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA INDICTMENT 

-v.- 	 Si 11 Cr. 161 (RPP) 

WINIFRED JIAU, 
a/k/a "Wini," and 

DONALD LONGUEUIL, 

Defendants. 

	  X 

COUNT ONE 

(Conspiracy to Commit Securities Fraud and Wire Fraud) 

The Grand Jury charges: 

Relevant Entities and Individuals  

1. At all times relevant to this Indictment, an 

expert networking firm in Mountain View, California (the "Firm") 

operated as a private company that paid employees at publicly 

traded companies and other individuals ("Firm Consultants") to 

provide information to money managers, including hedge funds, 

whose principal purpose was to purchase and sell securities to 

make money ("Firm Clients"). Firm Clients paid money to the Firm 

to gain access to Firm Consultants. 

2. At all times relevant to this Indictment, WINIFRED 

JIAU, a/k/a "Wini," the defendant, was a paid consultant for the 

Firm. Unlike most other Firm Consultants, JIAU was listed on the 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

X 

1 
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Firm's "private network," meaning that consultations with JIAU 

were limited to a select few Firm Clients. 

3. At all times relevant to this Indictment, a co-

conspirator not named as a defendant herein ("CC-1") worked as a 

portfolio manager in the hedge fund industry, including at two 

separate hedge funds located in New York, New York. CC-1 had 

access to WINIFRED JIAU, a/k/a "Wini," the defendant, through the 

Firm's private network. 

4. At all times relevant to this Indictment, Noah 

Freeman worked in the hedge fund industry, first as a research 

analyst at a hedge fund located in Boston, Massachusetts, and 

subsequently as a portfolio manager at a Connecticut-based hedge 

fund. Freeman also had access to WINIFRED JIAU, a/k/a "Wini," 

the defendant, through the Firm's private network. 

The Jiau Insider Trading and Wire Fraud Scheme  

5. From at least in or about 2006, through in or 

about late 2008, WINIFRED JIAU, a/k/a "Wini," the defendant, and 

others known and unknown, participated in a scheme to defraud 

certain public companies of material, nonpublic information (the 

"Jiau Inside Information"). Specifically, JIAU obtained detailed 

earnings, revenue, gross margins, and/or other financial 

information from employees at public companies (the "Jiau Inside 

Sources"), including Marvell Technology Group, Ltd. ("Marvell") 

2 
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and NVIDIA Corporation ("NVIDIA"), who disclosed the Jiau Inside 

Information in violation of duties of trust and confidence that 

the Jiau Inside Sources owed to their respective employers and 

the shareholders of those companies. 

6. After obtaining the Jiau Inside Information from 

the Jiau Inside Sources, WINIFRED JIAU, a/k/a "Wini," the 

defendant, provided the Jiau Inside Information to CC-1 and 

Freeman. As JIAU well knew, the Jiau Inside Information that she 

provided to CC-1 and Freeman was obtained for the purpose of 

executing and causing others to execute securities transactions 

based, in whole or in part, on the Jiau Inside Information. 

7. In exchange for the Jiau Inside Information 

provided by WINIFRED JIAU, a/k/a "Wini," the defendant, CC-1 and 

Freeman caused their respective hedge funds to pay the Firm 

either through direct payments to the Firm or through soft dollar 

payments made through the Firm's designated broker-dealer. The 

Firm, in turn, made monthly payments to JIAU of as much as 

$10,000. 

The Conspiracy 

8. From at least in or about 2006, through in or 

about late 2008, in the Southern District of New York and 

elsewhere, WINIFRED JIAU, a/k/a "Wini," the defendant, and others 

known and unknown, unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly did 

3 
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combine, conspire, confederate and agree together and with each 

other to commit offenses against the United States, to wit, (1) 

securities fraud, in violation of Title 15, United States Code, 

Sections 78j(b) and 78ff, and Title 17, Code of Federal 

Regulations, Sections 240.10b-5 and 240.10b5-2; and (2) wire 

fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 

1343. 

Obiects of the Conspiracy 

9. 	It was a part and an object of the conspiracy that 

WINIFRED JIAU, a/k/a "Wini," the defendant, and others known and 

unknown, unlawfully, willfully and knowingly, directly and 

indirectly, by the use of the means and instrumentalities of 

interstate commerce, and of the mails, and of the facilities of 

national securities exchanges, would and did use and employ, in 

connection with the purchase and sale of securities, manipulative 

and deceptive devices and contrivances in violation of Title 17, 

Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.10b-5 by: (a) employing 

devices, schemes and artifices to defraud; (b) making untrue 

statements of material fact and omitting to state material facts 

necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of 

the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and 

(c) engaging in acts, practices and courses of business which 

operated and would operate as a fraud and deceit upon any person, 

4 
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all in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j(b) 

and 78ff, and Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Sections 

240.10b-5 and 240.10b5-2. 

10. It was further a part and an object of the 

conspiracy that WINIFRED JIAU, a/k/a "Wini," the defendant, 

unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly, having devised and 

intending to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud, and for 

obtaining money and property by means of false and fraudulent 

pretenses, representations, and promises, would and did transmit 

and cause to be transmitted by means of wire communication in 

interstate commerce writings, signs, signals, pictures and sounds 

for the purpose of executing such scheme and artifice, in 

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343. 

Means and Methods of the Conspiracy 

11. Among the means and methods by which WINIFRED 

JIAU, a/k/a "Wini," the defendant, and her co-conspirators would 

and did carry out the conspiracy were the following: 

a. JIAU obtained the Jiau Inside Information 

from employees at public companies, who disclosed the information 

in violation of fiduciary and other duties of trust and 

confidence owed to the public companies. 

b. Having obtained the Jiau Inside Information 

from employees at public companies, JIAU then provided the Jiau 

5 
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Inside Information to certain Firm Clients understanding that the 

Firm Clients wanted the Jiau Inside Information for purposes of 

executing securities transactions. 

c. 	Firm Clients that obtained the Jiau Inside 

Information from JIAU executed securities transactions based, in 

whole or in part, on the Jiau Inside Information. 

Overt Acts  

12. In furtherance of the conspiracy, and to effect 

the illegal objects thereof, WINIFRED JIAU, a/k/a "Wini," the 

defendant, and her co-conspirators committed the following overt 

acts, among others, in the Southern District of New York and 

elsewhere: 

a. On or about May 23, 2008, JIAU had a 

telephone conversation with Freeman and CC-1, who was located in 

New York, New York, during which she provided them the Jiau 

Inside Information about, among other companies, Marvell, a 

public company that trades over the NASDAQ. 

b. On or about May 23, 2008, CC-1 caused the 

hedge fund at which he was employed, located in New York, New 

York, to purchase over 118,000 shares of stock in Marvell. 

c. In or about May 2008, JIAU received $10,000 

for her consultations with CC-1 and Freeman. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.) 

6 
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COUNT TWO 

(Securities Fraud) 

The Grand Jury further charges: 

13. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 

7, 11, and 12 are repeated and realleged as though fully set 

forth herein. 

14. In or about May 2008, in the Southern District of 

New York and elsewhere, WINIFRED JIAU, a/k/a "Wini," the 

defendant, unlawfully, willfully and knowingly, directly and 

indirectly, by use of the means and instrumentalities of 

interstate commerce, and of the mails and the facilities of 

national securities exchanges, in connection with the purchase 

and sale of securities, did use and employ manipulative and 

deceptive devices and contrivances, in violation of Title 17, 

Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.10b-5, by: (a) employing 

devices, schemes and artifices to defraud; (b) making untrue 

statements of material facts and omitting to state material facts 

necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of 

the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and 

(c) engaging in acts, practices and courses of business which 

operated and would operate as a fraud and deceit upon persons, to 

wit, JIAU provided material, nonpublic information regarding 

Marvell to CC-1 and Freeman for the purpose of executing and 

7 
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causing others to execute securities transactions. 

(Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j(b) & 78ff; 
Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.10b-5, 

and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.) 

COUNT THREE 

(Conspiracy 

The 

15.  

7, 	11 and 12 

herein. 

16.  

to Commit Securities Fraud and Wire Fraud) 

Grand Jury further charges: 

The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 

are repeated and realleged as though fully set forth 

Relevant Entities and Individuals 

At all times relevant to this Indictment, DONALD 

LONGUEUIL, the defendant, worked in the hedge fund industry, 

primarily specializing in research and trading in the technology 

and semiconductor sectors. 

17. From in or about June 2004, through in or about 

June 2008, DONALD LONGUEUIL, the defendant, was employed as a 

research analyst and managing director at a hedge fund located in 

Connecticut ("Hedge Fund A"). In or about June 2008, LONGUEUIL 

left Hedge Fund A to work as a portfolio manager at the New York 

office of another Connecticut-based hedge fund ("Hedge Fund B"). 

The Longueuil Insider Trading and Wire Fraud Scheme  

18. From at least in or about 2006, through in or 

about 2010, DONALD LONGUEUIL, the defendant, and others known and 
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unknown, participated in a scheme to defraud certain public 

companies of material, nonpublic information (the "Longueuil 

Inside Information"). Specifically, LONGUEUIL obtained the 

Longueuil Inside Information both from employees at public 

companies, who disclosed the information in violation of 

fiduciary and other duties of trust and confidence owed to the 

public companies, and from independent research consultants who 

obtained material, nonpublic information from employees at public 

companies on behalf of LONGUEUIL. 

19. After obtaining the Longueuil Inside Information 

from the public company employees and other sources, DONALD 

LONGUEUIL, the defendant, provided the Longueuil Inside 

Information to Freeman and CC-l. In exchange, Freeman and CC-1 

shared with LONGUEUIL other material, nonpublic information they 

obtained from their own sources, including the Jiau Inside 

Information which they received from WINIFRED JIAU, a/k/a "Wini," 

the defendant. In fact, LONGUEUIL communicated regularly with 

Freeman and/or CC-1 in order to share the material, nonpublic 

information each learned from his respective sources. These 

communications often occurred over the telephone, as well as 

through e-mails and instant message communications. 

20. As part of the scheme, DONALD LONGUEUIL, the 

defendant, and his co-conspirators undertook efforts to conceal 
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the scheme from regulatory and law enforcement agencies, 

including by (a) saving electronic records evidencing their 

communications with company insiders on external flash drives or 

other external electronic data storage devices, rather than on 

the servers maintained by their respective hedge funds, and (b) 

using personal e-mail accounts to communicate rather than the 

hedge fund e-mail accounts. 

21. In furtherance of the scheme, on or about November 

19, 2010, after reading in the press that the Federal Bureau of 

Investigation and a federal grand jury had been conducting an 

investigation into insider trading through the Firm, DONALD 

LONGUEUIL, the defendant, attempted to destroy digital records 

and/or documents reflecting his receipt of the Longueuil Inside 

Information from employees at public companies and his sharing of 

that information with Freeman and CC-1. 

22. DONALD LONGUEUIL, the defendant, along with 

Freeman and CC-1, used the Longueuil Inside Information and the 

Jiau Inside Information they obtained for the purpose of 

executing and causing others to execute securities transactions 

based, in whole or in part, on such information. 

The Conspiracy 

23. From at least in or about 2006, through in or 

about 2010, in the Southern District of New York and elsewhere, 
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DONALD LONGUEUIL, the defendant, and others known and unknown, 

unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly did combine, conspire, 

confederate and agree together and with each other to commit 

offenses against the United States, to wit, (1) securities fraud, 

in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j(b) and 

78ff, and Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Sections 

240.10b-5 and 240.10b5-2; and (2) wire fraud, in violation of 

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343. 

Objects of the Conspiracy 

24. It was a part and an object of the conspiracy that 

DONALD LONGUEUIL, the defendant, and others known and unknown, 

unlawfully, willfully and knowingly, directly and indirectly, by 

the use of the means and instrumentalities of interstate 

commerce, and of the mails, and of the facilities of national 

securities exchanges, would and did use and employ, in connection 

with the purchase and sale of securities, manipulative and 

deceptive devices and contrivances in violation of Title 17, Code 

of Federal Regulations, Section 240.10b-5 by: (a) employing 

devices, schemes and artifices to defraud; (b) making untrue 

statements of material fact and omitting to state material facts 

necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of 

the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and 

(c) engaging in acts, practices and courses of business which 
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operated and would operate as a fraud and deceit upon any person, 

all in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j(b) 

and 78ff, and Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Sections 

240.10b-5 and 240.10b5-2. 

25. It was further a part and an object of the 

conspiracy that DONALD LONGUEUIL, the defendant, unlawfully, 

willfully, and knowingly, having devised and intending to devise 

a scheme and artifice to defraud, and for obtaining money and 

property by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, 

representations, and promises, would and did transmit and cause 

to be transmitted by means of wire communication in interstate 

commerce writings, signs, signals, pictures and sounds for the 

purpose of executing such scheme and artifice, in violation of 

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343. 

Means and Methods of the Conspiracy 

26. Among the means and methods by which DONALD 

LONGUEUIL, the defendant, and his co-conspirators would and did 

carry out the conspiracy were the following: 

a. 	LONGUEUIL obtained the Longueuil Inside 

Information both directly from employees at public companies, who 

disclosed the information in violation of fiduciary and other 

duties of trust and confidence owed to the public companies, and 

from independent research consultants who obtained the Longueuil 
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Inside Information from employees at public companies on behalf 

of LONGUEUIL. 

b. LONGUEUIL shared the Longueuil Inside 

Information he obtained with Freeman and CC-1. In exchange, 

Freeman and CC-1 shared with LONGUEUIL other material, nonpublic 

information that they obtained from their own respective sources. 

For example, Freeman and CC-1 shared with LONGUEUIL the Jiau 

Inside Information they obtained from WINIFRED JIAU, a/k/a 

"Wini," the defendant, including detailed earnings, revenue, 

gross margins, and/or other financial information of public 

companies prior to the companies' public earnings announcements. 

c. LONGUEUIL, Freeman, and CC-1 used the 

Longueuil Inside Information and the Jiau Inside Information they 

obtained for the purpose of executing and causing others to 

execute securities transactions based, in whole or in part, on 

such information. 

Overt Acts  

27. In furtherance of the conspiracy, and to effect 

the illegal objects thereof, DONALD LONGUEUIL, the defendant, and 

his co-conspirators committed the following overt acts, among 

others, in the Southern District of New York and elsewhere: 

a. 	On or about May 23, 2008, WINIFRED JIAU, 

a/k/a "Wini," the defendant, had a telephone conversation with 
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Freeman and CC-1, who was located in New York, New York, during 

which she provided them the Jiau Inside Information about, among 

other companies, Marvell, a public company that trades over the 

NASDAQ. 

b. On or about May 23, 2008, LONGUEUIL obtained 

the Jiau Inside Information from CC-1. 

c. On or about May 28, 2008, JIAU had a 

telephone conversation with Freeman and CC-1. 

d. In or about late May 2008, LONGUEUIL obtained 

the Jiau Inside Information from Freeman. 

e. On or about May 28, 2008, LONGUEUIL caused 

portfolio managers at Hedge Fund A to purchase approximately 

400,000 shares of stock in Marvell based, in whole or in part, on 

the Jiau Inside Information. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.) 

COUNT FOUR 

(Securities Fraud) 

The Grand Jury further charges: 

28. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 

7, 11, 12, 16 through 22, 26 and 27 are repeated and realleged as 

though fully set forth herein. 

29. In or about May 2008, in the Southern District of 

New York and elsewhere, DONALD LONGUEUIL, the defendant, 
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unlawfully, willfully and knowingly, directly and indirectly, by 

use of the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, 

and of the mails and the facilities of national securities 

exchanges, in connection with the purchase and sale of 

securities, did use and employ manipulative and deceptive devices 

and contrivances, in violation of Title 17, Code of Federal 

Regulations, Section 240.10b-5, by (a) employing devices, 

schemes and artifices to defraud; (b) making untrue statements of 

material facts and omitting to state material facts necessary in 

order to make the statements made, in the light of the 

circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and (c) 

engaging in acts, practices and courses of business which 

operated and would operate as a fraud and deceit upon persons, to 

wit, LONGUEUIL caused Hedge Fund A to execute securities 

transactions in Marvell stock based on material, nonpublic 

information he received from CC-1 and Freeman regarding Marvell. 

(Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j(b) & 78ff; 
Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.10b-5, 

and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.) 

COUNT FIVE  

(Obstruction of Justice) 

The Grand Jury further charges: 

30. In or about November 2010, in the Southern 

District of New York and elsewhere, DONALD LONGUEUIL, the 
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defendant, unlawfully, willfully and knowingly, corruptly 

altered, destroyed, mutilated, and concealed a record, document, 

and other object, and attempted to do so, with the intent to 

impair the object's integrity and availability for use in an 

official proceeding, and otherwise obstructed, influenced, and 

impeded an official proceeding, and attempted to do so, to wit, 

LONGUEUIL destroyed a flash drive and external hard drives, in 

New York, New York, after reading an article about a federal 

grand jury investigation concerning insider trading. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1512(c) and 2.) 

FORFEITURE ALLEGATION 

31. As a result of committing one or more of the 

foregoing securities and wire fraud offenses alleged in Counts 

One through Four of this Indictment, WINIFRED JIAU, a/k/a "Wini," 

and DONALD LONGUEUIL, the defendants, shall forfeit to the United 

States pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 

981(a)(1)(c) and Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461, all 

property, real and personal, that constitutes or is derived from 

proceeds traceable to the commission of the securities and wire 

fraud offenses, including but not limited to a sum of money in 

United States currency which was derived from proceeds traceable 

to the commission of the wire fraud and securities fraud 

offenses. 
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Substitute Assets Provision 

32. If any of the above-described forfeitable 

property, as a result of any act or omission of the defendant: 

a. cannot be located upon the exercise of due 

diligence; 

b. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited 

with, a third party; 

c. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of 

the court; 

d. has been substantially diminished in value; 

or 

e. has been commingled with other property which 

cannot be divided without difficulty; 

it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 21, 

United States Code, Section 853(p), to seek forfeiture of any 

other property of the defendant up to the value of the 

forfeitable property described above. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 981; 
Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461; Title 18, United 

States Code, Sections 371, 1349 and 2; Title 15, United States 
Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78ff; and Title 17, Code of Federal 

Regulations, Sections 240.10b-5 and 240.10b5-2.) 

  

	2-A41  ti/t)/'`N  
P EET BHARARA 
United States Attorney 

Foreperson 
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Form No. USA-33s-274 (Ed. 9-25-58) 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

- v. 

WINIFRED JIAU and 
DONALD LONGUEUIL, 

Defendants. 

INDICTMENT  
S1 11 Cr. 161 (RPP) 

(18 U.S.C. §§ 2, 371, 1512(c); Title 15, 
United States Code, Sections 78j(b) & 

78ff; Title 17, Code of Federal 
Regulations, Section 240.10b-5) 

PREET BHARARA 
United States Attorney. 

A TRUE BILL 

- 11 r, 	1:/to  
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U.S. Department of Justice 

United States Attorney 
Southern District of New York 

The Silvio J Mollo Building 
One Saint Andrew's Plaza 
New York, New York 10007 

April 27, 2011 
BY ELECTRONIC MAIL 
Craig Carpenito 
Alston & Bird, LLP 
90 Park Avenue 
New York, NY 10016-1387 

Re: United States v. Donald Longueuil 
S1 11 Cr. 161 (JSR) 

Dear Mr. Carpenito: 

On the understandings specified below, the Office of the United States Attorney for the 
Southern District ofNew York ("this Office") will accept a guilty plea from Donald Longueuil ("the 
defendant") to Counts Three and Four of the above-referenced Superseding Indictment ("the 
Indictment"). 

Count Three ofthe Indictment charges the defendant with participating in a conspiracy, from 
at least in or about 2006, through in or about 2010, to commit securities fraud and wire fraud, in 
violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371, and carries a maximum sentence of five 
years' imprisonment; a maximum period of supervised release of three years; a maximum fine, 
pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 3571 of the greatest of $250,000, twice the gross 
pecuniary gain derived from the offense, or twice the gross pecuniary loss to persons other than the 
defendant resulting from the offense; and a mandatory $100 special assessment. 

Count Four of the Indictment charges the defendant with committing securities fraud, in or 
about May 2008, in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78ff, Title 17, 
Code of Federal Regulations, Sections 240.10b-5 and 240.10b5-2, and Title 18, United States Code, 
Section Two, in connection with a scheme to defraud by executing securities trades based on 
material nonpublic information. This charge carries a maximum sentence of 20 years' 
imprisonment, a maximum term of three years' supervised release, a maximum fine of the greatest 
of $5 million, twice the gross pecuniary gain derived from the offense, or twice the gross pecuniary 
loss to persons other than the defendant resulting from the offense, and a mandatory $100 special 
assessment. 

In addition to the foregoing, the Court must order restitution in accordance with Sections 
3663, 3663A and 3664 of Title 18, United States Code. 
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In consideration of the defendant's plea to the above offense, the defendant will not be 
further prosecuted criminally by this Office (except for criminal tax violations as to which this 
Office cannot, and does not, make any agreement) for (i) his participation in a conspiracy to 
knowingly defraud public companies of material nonpublic information, from in or about 2006 
through in or about 2010, as charged in Count Three of the Indictment, and (ii) his causing securities 
transactions in the stock of Marvell Technology Group, Ltd., based on material, nonpublic 
information, in or about May 2008, as charged in Count Four of the Indictment. In addition, at the 
time of sentencing, the Government will move to dismiss any open Count(s) against the defendant. 
The defendant agrees that with respect to any and all dismissed charges he is not a "prevailing party" 
within the meaning of the "Hyde Amendment," Section 617, P.L. 105-119 (Nov. 26, 1997), and will 
not file any claim under that law. 

The defendant hereby admits the forfeiture allegation with respect to Counts Three and Four 
of the Indictment and agrees to forfeit to the United States, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, 
Section 981(a)(1)(C) and Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461, a sum of money equal to 
$1,251,685, representing all property derived from proceeds traceable to the commission of the 
securities and wire fraud offenses described in the Indictment (the "Money Judgment"). The 
defendant agrees that he shall pay the Money Judgment by postal money order, bank or certified 
check, made payable to the "United States Marshals Service," and delivered by hand or by mail to 
the United States Attorney's Office, Southern District of New York, Attn: Asset Forfeiture Unit, 
One St. Andrew's Plaza, New York, New York 10007. Such payment shall be made at or prior to 
the sentencing of the defendant. It is the intent of this Office to request that the Department of 
Justice invoke its Restoration Policy and apply the forfeited funds to any restitution order entered 
by the Court. 

In consideration of the foregoing and pursuant to United States Sentencing Guidelines 
("U.S.S.G." or "Guidelines") Section 6B1.4, the parties hereby stipulate to the following: 

A. 	Offense Level 

1. The Guidelines provisions in effect as of November 1, 2010, apply in this 
case. 

2. Pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 3D1.2, because Counts Three and Four involve 
substantially the same harm, these counts are grouped together into a single count. 

3. The Guidelines provision applicable to the offense charged in Counts Three 
and Four is U.S.S.G. § 2B1.4. Pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 2B1.4(a), the base offense level is 8. 

4. Because the gain that resulted from the offense to the defendant was greater 
than $1,000,000, but not more than $2,500,000, the base offense level is increased by 16 levels 
under U.S.S.G. §§ 2B1.4(b)(1) and 2B1.1(b)(1)(I). 
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5. Because the defendant willfully obstructed and impeded the administration 
of justice with respect to the investigation and prosecution of the instant offense by destroying a 
flash drive and hard drives relevant to the offense of conviction (securities fraud) on or about 
November 20, 2010, the offense level is increased by two levels under U.S.S.G. § 3C1.1 

6. Assuming the defendant clearly demonstrates acceptance of responsibility, 
to the satisfaction of the Government, through his allocution and subsequent conduct prior to the 
imposition of sentence, a two-level reduction will be warranted, pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 3E1.1(a). 
Furthermore, assuming the defendant has accepted responsibility as described in the previous 
sentence, an additional one-level reduction is warranted, pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 3E1.1(b), because 
the defendant gave timely notice of his intention to enter a plea of guilty, thereby permitting the 
Government to avoid preparing for trial and permitting the Court to allocate its resources efficiently. 

In accordance with the above, the applicable Guidelines offense level is 23. 

B. Criminal History Category 

Based upon the information now available to this Office (including representations by the 
defense), the defendant has no criminal history points. Accordingly, the defendant's Criminal 
History Category is I. 

C. Sentencing Range 

Based upon the calculations set forth above, the defendant's stipulated sentencing Guidelines 
range is 46 to 57 months' imprisonment (the "Stipulated Guidelines Range"). In addition, after 
determining the defendant's ability to pay, the Court may impose a fine pursuant to §5E1.2. At 
Guidelines level 23, the applicable fine range is $10,000 to $100,000. 

The parties agree that neither a downward nor an upward departure from the Stipulated 
Guidelines Range of 46 to 57 months is warranted. Accordingly, neither party will seek any 
departure or adjustment pursuant to the Guidelines that is not set forth herein. Nor will either party 
suggest that the Probation Office consider such a departure or adjustment under the Guidelines, or 
suggest that the Court sua sponte consider any such departure or adjustment. 

The parties agree that either party may seek a sentence outside of the Stipulated Guidelines 
Range of 46 to 57 months, suggest that the Probation Office consider a sentence outside of the 
Stipulated Guidelines Range of 46 to 57 months, and suggest that the Court sua sponte consider a 
sentence outside of the Stipulated Guidelines Range of 46 to 57 months, based upon the factors to 
be considered in imposing a sentence pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 3553(a). 

Except as provided in any written Proffer Agreement(s) that may have been entered into 
between this Office and the defendant, nothing in this Agreement limits the right of the parties (i) to 
present to the Probation Office or the Court any facts relevant to sentencing; (ii) to make any 
arguments regarding where within the Stipulated Guidelines Range of 46 to 57 months (or such 
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other range as the Court may determine) the defendant should be sentenced and regarding the factors 
to be considered in imposing a sentence pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 3553(a); 
(iii) to seek an appropriately adjusted Guidelines range if it is determined based upon new 
information that the defendant's criminal history category is different from that set forth above; and 
(iv) to seek an appropriately adjusted Guidelines range or mandatory minimum term of 
imprisonment if it is subsequently determined that the defendant qualifies as a career offender under 
U.S.S.G. § 4B1.1. Nothing in this Agreement limits the right of the Government to seek denial of 
the adjustment for acceptance of responsibility, see U.S.S.G. § 3E1.1, regardless of any stipulation 
set forth above, if the defendant fails clearly to demonstrate acceptance of responsibility, to the 
satisfaction of the Government, through his allocution and subsequent conduct prior to the 
imposition of sentence. Similarly, nothing in this Agreement limits the right of the Government to 
seek an enhancement for obstruction of justice, see U.S.S.G. § 3C1.1, regardless of any stipulation 
set forth above, should it be determined that the defendant has either (i) engaged in conduct, 
unknown to the Government at the time of the signing of this Agreement, that constitutes obstruction 
of justice or (ii) committed another crime after signing this Agreement. 

It is understood that pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 6B1.4(d), neither the Probation Office nor the 
Court is bound by the above Guidelines stipulation, either as to questions of fact or as to the 
determination of the proper Guidelines to apply to the facts. In the event that the Probation Office 
or the Court contemplates any Guidelines adjustments, departures, or calculations different from 
those stipulated to above, or contemplates any sentence outside of the Stipulated Guidelines Range 
of 46 to 57 months, the parties reserve the right to answer any inquiries and to make all appropriate 
arguments concerning the same. 

It is understood that the sentence to be imposed upon the defendant is determined solely by 
the Court. It is further understood that the Guidelines are not binding on the Court. The defendant 
acknowledges that his entry of a guilty plea to Counts Three and Four of the Indictment authorizes 
the sentencing court to impose any sentence, up to and including the statutory maximum sentence. 
This Office cannot, and does not, make any promise or representation as to what sentence the 
defendant will receive. Moreover, it is understood that the defendant will have no right to withdraw 
his plea of guilty should the sentence imposed by the Court be outside the Stipulated Guidelines 
Range of 46 to 57 months set forth above. 

It is agreed (i) that the defendant will not file a direct appeal; nor bring a collateral challenge, 
including but not limited to an application under Title 28, United States Code, Section 2255 and/or 
Section 2241; nor seek a sentence modification pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 
3582(c), of any sentence within or below the Stipulated Guidelines Range of 46 to 57 months and 
(ii) that the Government will not appeal any sentence within or above the Stipulated Guidelines 
Range of 46 to 57 months. This provision is binding on the parties even if the Court employs a 
Guidelines analysis different from that stipulated to herein. Furthermore, it is agreed that any appeal 
as to the defendant's sentence that is not foreclosed by this provision will be limited to that portion 
of the sentencing calculation that is inconsistent with (or not addressed by) the above stipulation. 
The parties agree that this waiver applies regardless of whether the term of imprisonment is imposed 
to run consecutively to or concurrently with the undischarged portion of any other sentence of 
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imprisonment that has been imposed on the defendant at the time of sentencing in this case. The 
defendant further agrees not to appeal any term of supervised release that is less than or equal to the 
statutory maximum. 

The defendant hereby acknowledges that he has accepted this Agreement and decided to 
plead guilty because he is in fact guilty. By entering this plea of guilty, the defendant waives any 
and all right to withdraw his plea or to attack his conviction, either on direct appeal or collaterally, 
on the ground that the Government has failed to produce any discovery material, Jencks Act 
material, exculpatory material pursuant to Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), other than 
information establishing the factual innocence ofthe defendant, and impeachment material pursuant 
to Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972), that has not already been produced as of the date 
of the signing of this Agreement. 

It is further agreed that should the conviction(s) following the defendant's plea(s) of guilty 
pursuant to this Agreement be vacated for any reason, then any prosecution that is not time-barred 
by the applicable statute of limitations on the date of the signing of this agreement (including any 
counts that the Government has agreed to dismiss at sentencing pursuant to this Agreement) may 
be commenced or reinstated against the defendant, notwithstanding the expiration of the statute of 
limitations between the signing of this Agreement and the commencement or reinstatement of such 
prosecution. It is the intent of this Agreement to waive all defenses based on the statute of 
limitations with respect to any prosecution that is not time-barred on the date that this Agreement 
is signed. 

It is further understood that this Agreement does not bind any federal, state, or local 
prosecuting authority other than this Office. 
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Apart from any written Proffer Agreement(s) that may have been entered into between this 
Office and defendant, this Agreement supersedes any prior understandings, promises, or conditions 
between this Office and the defendant. No additional understandings, promises, or conditions have 
been entered into other than those set forth in this Agreement, and none will be entered into unless 
in writing and signed by all parties. 

Very truly yours, 

PREET BHARARA 
United States Attorney 

By: 
Avi Weitzman/David Leibowitz 
Assistant United States Attorneys 
(212) 637-1205/1947 

APPROVED: 

Marc P. Berger 
Deputy Chief, Securities and Commodities 
Fraud Task Force 

AGREED AND CONSENTED TO: 

Donald Longueuil 	 DATE 
Defendant 

APPROVED: 

  

   

Craig Carpenito, Esq. 	 DATE 
Attorney for Donald Longueuil 
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July 29, 2011 
Date of Imposition of Judgment 

Case 1:11-cr-00161-JSR Document 112 Filed 08/10/11 Page 1 of 6 
44Aci 245B 	(Rev. 06/05) Judgment in a Criminal Case 

Sheet 1 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN District of 	 NEW YORK 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

V. 

DONALD LONGUEULL 

JUDGMENT IN A CRIMINAL CASE 

THE DEFENDANT: 

X pleaded guilty to count(s) 3 & 4 

❑ pleaded nolo contendere to count(s) 

which was accepted by the court. 

❑ was found guilty on count(s) 

after a plea of not guilty. 

Case Number: 	1:S 11CR 161-02(JSR) 

USM Number: 	64652-054 

Craig Carpenito, Esq. 
Defendant's Attorney 

The defendant is adjudicated guilty of these offenses: 

Title & Section 
18 U.S.C. 371 

15 U.S.C. 78j(b) and 78ff 
17 CFR 240.10b-5; 
18 U.S.C. 2 

Nature of Offense 
Conspiracy to Commit Securities Fraud and Wire 

Fraud 
Securities Fraud 

Offense Ended 	Count 
2010 	 3 

May 2008 	 4 

The defendant is sentenced as provided in pages 2 through 	6 	of this judgment. The sentence is imposed pursuant to 
the Sentencing Reform Act of 1984. 

❑ The defendant has been found not guilty on count(s) 

VCount(s) 	 55" 	is 	❑ are dismissed on the motion of the United States. 

k Underlying 	 indictment 	X is 	❑ are dismissed on the motion of the United States. 

X Motion(s) 	 at 50,52 &54 	❑ is 	X are denied as moot. 

It is ordered that the defendant must notify the United States attorney for this district within 30 days of any change of name, 
residence, or mailing address until all fines, restitution, costs, and special assessments imposed by this judgment are fully paid. If ordered 
to pay restitution, the defendant must notify the court and United States attorney of material changes in economic circumstances. 

Signature o udge 
Hon. Jed S. Rakoff, United States District Judge 

Name and Title of Judge 

(7'6(  
Date 
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DEFENDANT: 	DONALD LONGUEITIL 
CASE NUMBER: 	1:S 11CR 161-02(JSR) 

IMPRISONMENT 

The defendant is hereby committed to the custody of the United States Bureau of Prisons to be imprisoned for a 
total term of: THIRTY (30) MOTNHS TO RUN CONCURRENT ON COUNTS 3 & 4. 

X The court makes the following recommendations to the Bureau of Prisons: 

Incarceration in F.C.I. Otisville satellite camp 

❑ The defendant is remanded to the custody of the United States Marshal. 

❑ The defendant shall surrender to the United States Marshal for this district: 

❑ at 

 

❑ a.m. ❑ p.m. on 

 

    

❑ as notified by the United States Marshal. 

X The defendant shall surrender for service of sentence at the institution designated by the Bureau of Prisons: 

X before 2 p.m. on 	September 13, 2011  

❑ as notified by the United States Marshal. 

❑ as notified by the Probation or Pretrial Services Office. 

RETURN 

I have executed this judgment as follows: 

Defendant delivered on 	 to 

a 	  , with a certified copy of this judgment. 

UNITED STATES MARSHAL 

By 	  
DEPUTY UNITED STATES MARSHAL 
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DEliENDANT: 	DONALD LONGUEUIL 
CASE NUMBER: 1:S 11CR 161-02(JSR) 

SUPERVISED RELEASE 

Upon release from imprisonment, the defendant shall be on supervised release for a term of : 

TWO (2) YEARS TO RUN CONCURRENT ON COUNTS 3 & 4 

   

The defendant must report to the probation office in the district to which the defendant is released within 72 hours of release from 
the custody of the Bureau of Prisons. 

The defendant shall not commit another federal, state or local crime. 

The defendant shall not unlawfully possess a controlled substance. The defendant shall refrain from any unlawful use of a 
controlled substance. The defendant shall submit to one drug test within 15 days of release from imprisonment and at least two 
periodic drug tests thereafter, as determined by the court. 

X The above drug testing condition is suspended, based on the court's determination that the defendant 
future substance abuse. (Check, if applicable.) 

X The defendant shall not possess a firearm, ammunition, destructive device, or any other dangerous weapon. (Check, if 

X The defendant shall cooperate in the collection of DNA as directed by the probation officer. (Check, if applicable.) 

❑ The defendant shall register with the state sex offender registration agency in the state where the defendant resides, works, or 
student, as directed by the probation officer. (Check, if applicable.) 

❑ 	The defendant shall participate in an approved program for domestic violence. (Check, if applicable.) 

If this judgment imposes a fine or restitution, it is a condition of supervised release that the defendant pay in accordance with 
the Schedule of-Payments sheet of this judgment. 

The defendant must comply with the standard conditions that have been adopted by this court as well as with any additional 
conditions on the attached page. 

STANDARD CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISION 

1) the defendant shall not leave the judicial district without the permission of the court or probation officer; 

2) the defendant shall report to the probation officer and shall submit a truthful and complete written report within the first five 
days of each month; 

3) the defendant shall answer truthfully all inquiries by the probation officer and follow the instructions of the probation officer; 

4) the defendant shall support his or her dependents and meet other family responsibilities; 

5) the defendant shall work regularly at a lawful occupation, unless excused by the probation officer for schooling, training, or 
other acceptable reasons; 

6) the defendant shall notify the probation officer at least ten days prior to any change in residence or employment; 

7) the defendant shall refrain from excessive use of alcohol and shall not purchase, possess, use, distribute, or administer any 
controlled substance or any paraphernalia related to any controlled substances, except as prescribed by a physician; 

8) the defendant shall not frequent places where controlled substances are illegally sold, used, distributed, or administered; 

9) the defendant shall not associate with any persons engaged in criminal activity and shall not associate with any person convicted 
of a felony, unless granted permission to do so by the probation officer; 

10) the defendant shall permit a probation officer to visit him or her at any time at home or elsewhere and shall permit confiscation 
of any contraband observed in plain view of the probation officer; 

11) the defendant shall notify the probation officer within seventy-two hours of being arrested or questioned by a law enforcement 
officer; 

12) the defendant shall not enter into any agreement to act as an informer or a special agent of a law enforcement agency without 
the permission of the court; and 

13) as directed by the probation officer, the defendant shall notify third parties of risks that may be occasioned by the defendant's 
criminal record or personal history or characteristics and shall permit the probation officer to make such notifications and to 
confirm the defendant's compliance with such notification requirement. 
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DEFENDANT: 	DONALD LONGUEUIL 
CASE NUMBER: 1:S 11CR 161-02(JSR) 

SPECIAL CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISION 
1. The defendant shall participate in a mental health program approved by the U.S. Probation Office. The defendant 
shall continue to take any prescribed medications unless otherwise instructed by the health care provider. The 
defendant shall contribute to the costs of services rendered not covered by third-party payment, if the defendant has 
the ability to pay. The Court authorizes the release of available psychological and psychiatric evaluations and reports 
to the health care provider. 

2. The defendant shall provide the Probation Officer with access to any requested financial information. 

3. The defendant shall be supervised in his district of residence. 
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DEFENDANT: 
	

DONALD LONGUEUIL 
CASE NUMBER: 
	1:S 11CR 161-02(JSR) 

CRIMINAL MONETARY PENALTIES 

The defendant must pay the total criminal monetary penalties under the schedule of payments on Sheet 6. 

Assessment 
	

Fine 	 Restitution 
TOTALS 	$ 200 

	
S 	 $ 

❑ The determination of restitution is deferred 	. An Amended Judgment in a Criminal Case (AO 245C) will be 

after such determination. 

❑ 	The defendant must make restitution (including community restitution) to the following payees in the amount listed below. 

If the defendant makes a partial payment, each payee shall receive an approximately proportioned payment, unless specified 
otherwise in the priority order or percentage payment column below. However, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 6 3664(i), all nonfederal 
victims must be paid be -ore the United States is paid. 

Name of Payee 	 Total Loss* 
	

Restitution Ordered 	 Priority or Percentage 

TOTALS 	 $0.00 	 $0.00 

❑ Restitution amount ordered pursuant to plea agreement 

❑ The defendant must pay interest on restitution and a fine of more than $2,500, unless the restitution or fine is paid in full before 

fifteenth day after the date of the judgment, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(f). All of the payment options on Sheet 6 may be subject 
to penalties for delinquency and default, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(g). 

❑ The court determined that the defendant does not have the ability to pay interest and it is ordered that: 

❑ the interest requirement is waived for 	❑ fine ❑ restitution. 

❑ the interest requirement for 	❑ fine 	❑ restitution is modified as follows: 

* Findings for the total amount of losses are required under Chapters 109A, 110, 110A, and 113A of Title 18 for offenses committed 
on or after September 13, 1994, but before Apnl 23, 1996. 
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DEFENDANT: 	DONALD LONGUEUIL 
CASE NUMBER: 1:S 11CR 161-02(JSR) 

SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS 

Having assessed the defendant's ability to pay, payment of the total criminal monetary penalties are due as follows: 

A X Lump sum payment of $  200 	due immediately, balance due 

❑ not later than 	  , Or 

❑ in accordance 	❑ C, ❑ D, ❑ E, or ❑ F below; or 

B ❑ Payment to begin immediately (may be combined 	❑ C, 	❑ D, or ❑ F below); or 

C ❑ Payment in equal 	  (e.g., weekly, monthly, quarterly) installments of 	  over a period of 
	  (e.g., months or years), to   (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after the date of this judgment; or 

D ❑ Payment in equal 	  (e.g., weekly, monthly, quarterly) installments of 	  over a period of 
	  (e.g., months or years), to   (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after release from imprisonment to a 

term of supervision; or 

E ❑ Payment during the term of supervised release will commence 	 (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after release from 
imprisonment. The court will set the payment plan based on an assessment of the defendant's ability to pay at that time; 

F ❑ Special instructions regarding the payment of criminal monetary penalties: 

Unless the court has expressly ordered otherwise, if this judgment imposes imprisonment, payment of criminal monetary penalties is 
due during imprisonment. All criminal monetary penalties, except those payments made through the Federal Bureau of Prisons' 
Inmate Financial Responsibility Program, are made to the clerk oi the court. 

The defendant shall receive credit for all payments previously made toward any criminal monetary penalties imposed. 

❑ Joint and Several 

Defendant and Co-Defendant Names and Case Numbers (including defendant number), Total Amount, Joint and Several 
and corresponding payee, if appropriate. 

❑ The defendant shall pay the cost of prosecution. 

❑ The defendant shall pay the following court cost(s): 

X The defendant shall forfeit the defendant's interest in the following property to the United States: 
$1,251,685.00 in United States currency. 

Payments shall be applied in the following order: (1) assessment, (2) restitution principal, (3) restitution interest, (4) fine principal, 
(5) fine interest, (6) community restitution, (7) penalties, and (8) costs, including cost of prosecution and court costs. 
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1 	UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

	

1 	SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 
2 
2 

	

3 	UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
3 

	

4 	 v. 	 11 CR 161 (JSR) 
4 

	

5 	DONALD LONGUEUIL, 
5 

	

6 	 Defendant. 
6 
7 
7 

	

8 	 New York, N.Y. 

	

8 	 July 29, 2011 

	

9 	 5:15 p.m. 
9 

10 

	

10 	Before: 
11 

	

11 	 HON. JED S. RAKOFF, 
12 

	

12 	 District Judge 
13 
13 

	

14 	 APPEARANCES 
14 

	

15 	PREET BHARARA 

	

15 	 United States Attorney for the 

	

16 	 Southern District of New York 

	

16 	AVI WEITZMAN 

	

17 	DAVID LEIBOWITZ 

	

17 	 Assistant United States Attorneys 
18 

	

18 	ALSTON & BIRD 

	

19 	Attorneys for Defendant 

	

19 	CRAIG CARPENITO 

	

20 	GARY ADAMSON 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C. 
(212) 805-0300 

Case 15-570, Document 11, 03/02/2015, 1449929, Page48 of 86



2 
17TTLONS 	 Sentence 

	

1 	 (In open court) 

	

2 	 DEPUTY CLERK: United States versus Donald Longueuil, 

	

3 	docket number 11 CR 161, defendant number two. 

	

4 	 Will the parties please identify themselves for the 

	

5 	record. 

	

6 	 MR. WEITZMAN: Good afternoon, your Honor, Avi 

	

7 	Weitzman and David Leibowitz for the government. With me at 

	

8 	counsel table is Special Agent Michael Brown of the FBI. 

	

9 	 THE COURT: Good afternoon. 

	

10 	 MR. CARPENITO: Good afternoon, your Honor, Craig 

	

11 	Carpenito of Alston & Bird LLP. With me in this courtroom 

	

12 	today is my client, Donald Longueuil, and also Gary Adamson, an 

	

13 	associate in my law firm. 

	

14 	 THE COURT: I'm waiting for the entire file to be 

	

15 	brought up, but let me first inquire of defense counsel whether 

	

16 	your client has read and discussed with counsel the presentence 

	

17 	report. 

	

18 	 MR. CARPENITO: Yes, your Honor, Mr. Longueuil has 

	

19 	read the report. He indicated he understands it. We have 

	

20 	articulated our objections, and we have no further objections 

	

21 	than those indicated in the report. 

	

22 	 THE COURT: And any objections from the government? 

	

23 	 MR. WEITZMAN: No, your Honor. 

	

24 	 THE COURT: So your objections, if I remember 

	

25 	correctly -- that's why I wanted to wait for the file to be 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C. 

(212) 805-0300 
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1 	brought up, which is now here -- were not to the calculation of 

	

2 	the guidelines, were they? 

	

3 	 MR. CARPENITO: No, your Honor, we agree that it's an 

	

4 	accurate calculation. 

	

5 	 THE COURT: All right. So the Court is also in 

	

6 	agreement with counsel for both sides and the probation office 

	

7 	that the guideline calculation, which the Court must and will 

	

8 	consider, but is not binding on the Court, is a total offense 

	

9 	level of 23, Criminal History Category of I, and a guideline 

	

10 	range of 46 to 57 months. 

	

11 	 The probation office recommends 46 months. The 

	

12 	government recommends in their submission a sentence within the 

	

13 	guideline range, and defense counsel requests a sentence below 

	

14 	the guideline range. The Court needs to consider all the 

	

15 	factors under Section 3553(a), so let me hear first from 

	

16 	defense counsel then from government counsel then from the 

	

17 	defendant if he wishes to be heard. 

	

18 	 MR. CARPENITO: Thank you, your Honor. And thank you 

	

19 	for hearing us today. 

	

20 	 Your Honor, whenever I'm at a sentencing, albeit from 

	

21 	the time I was a prosecutor and now as a defense attorney, I 

	

22 	think of the words I heard from Judge Nevas years ago in the 

	

23 	District of Connecticut in a case that I tried and ultimately 

	

24 	appeared for sentencing. And he came to the bench looking 

	

25 	troubled and full of responsibility, and said the most awesome 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C. 
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1 	power that a judge has is the sentencing power in a criminal 

	

2 	case, and what a great responsibility it is to balance those 

	

3 	powers. I have always thought to myself what a responsibility 

	

4 	that must be and the feelings that it must take and how 

	

5 	difficult it must be in balancing the overarching themes of 

	

6 	3553(a), which is balancing the need to ensure that a sentence 

	

7 	is sufficient but not greater than necessary to do the goals of 

	

8 	sentencing. 

	

9 	 Here, your Honor, respectfully, we believe the 3553(a) 

	

10 	factors would indicate that a sentence less than 46 months at 

	

11 	the bottom of the guidelines range would be sufficient to both 

	

12 	promote the goals of sentencing but also not exceed what is 

	

13 	greater than necessary to both punish Mr. Longueuil for his 

	

14 	transgressions but still deter others from committing similar 

	

15 	conduct. 

	

16 	 THE COURT: So to ask you the question that every 

	

17 	defense counsel dreads: What specific sentence are you 

	

18 	recommending? 

	

19 	 MR. CARPENITO: You're right, Judge, it's always hard, 

	

20 	and I asked for that I believe by saying what an awesome power 

	

21 	it is and how hard it must be to decide. 

	

22 	 THE COURT: I need as much help as I can get. 

	

23 	 MR. CARPENITO: Judge, I think somewhere in the range 

	

24 	of 18 months is appropriate here given the sentence that we 

	

25 	looked at in prior sentences within this district. 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C. 
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1 	 I think that there are a couple of factors that weigh 

	

2 	heavily. And I know that your Honor is extremely diligent and 

	

3 	you read all the papers and the character letters. That is 

	

4 	your reputation and my own experience being in your courtroom. 

	

5 	So I won't belabor any of my points, but the first that I 

	

6 	believe is very relevant is the role that Mr. Longueuil had in 

	

7 	the offense. 

	

8 	 Insider trading, as you know, Judge, is often 

	

9 	something that is complex and focused upon a tipper, a tippee, 

	

10 	and the relationships the parties have to the ultimate source 

	

11 	of the information. And here Mr. Longueuil is, at best, a 

	

12 	third-tier to be tippee. As you know, your Honor, that the tip 

	

13 	that came from Marvell came through Ms. Winifred Jiau -- who 

	

14 	was on trial before your Honor not that long ago -- and was 

	

15 	given to two individuals, a man named Noah Freeman and a man 

	

16 	named Samir Barai, who are very good friends of my client. He 

	

17 	doesn't deny that they were very good friends at the time. It 

	

18 	was only passed to him by each of those people after the fact, 

	

19 	and that removed him three times from the source. He's never 

	

20 	met Winifred Jiau. There's no allegation he ever met Winifred 

	

21 	Jiau. He never had a conversation with her. He never met the 

	

22 	source at Marvell, no allegation he did. Surely he stands 

	

23 	before your Honor and he accepts that he knew he was receiving 

	

24 	material non-public information. He believed it was in 

	

25 	violation of the duty, and he's responsible for that crime. 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C. 
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1 	 THE COURT: Let me ask you, you lay out on pages 9 and 

	

2 	10 of your submission a number of recent sentences that you are 

	

3 	indicating in one or more ways were at least in the ballpark of 

	

4 	what were considering here in terms of misconduct. And you 

	

5 	note in effect that they were virtually all non-guidelines 

	

6 	sentences, and many of them considerably below the guidelines. 

	

7 	Now what I wasn't clear on was which of those involved 

	

8 	cooperators and which did not. 

	

9 	 MR. CARPENITO: That's interesting, Judge, because we 

	

10 	specifically did not choose cases where the defendants were 

	

11 	cooperators. 

	

12 	 THE COURT: So none of these are cooperators. 

	

13 	 MR. CARPENITO: That's correct, Judge, because we 

	

14 	wanted to be as comparable as we can in the current 

	

15 	circumstances. 

	

16 	 THE COURT: Comparable. 

	

17 	 MR. CARPENITO: Comparable, sorry. 

	

18 	 THE COURT: Go ahead. 

	

19 	 MR. CARPENITO: We believed we wanted to pick 

	

20 	comparable cases where they were non-cooperators. And the 

	

21 	other factor that we focused in on was personal profits in the 

	

22 	right-hand column, which is another factor that I think is very 

	

23 	relevant to Mr. Longueuil's sentencing today. 

	

24 	 This is not a situation where, despite the temptation 

	

25 	to characterize Mr. Longueuil as someone who did all this to 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C. 
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1 	line his pockets, Mr. Longueuil did not personally profit from 

	

2 	the May 28, 2008 trade. He was leaving Empire Capital weeks 

	

3 	after. He already had a contract to go over to SAC Capital. 

	

4 	He already agreed to all the terms. He did not do this 

	

5 	believing that he was going to make money off of it. I think, 

	

6 	your Honor, that you will hear from him today that he did it 

	

7 	for other reasons that were equally selfish. He will tell you 

	

8 	that he did it because he wanted a good reputation, because he 

	

9 	wanted to exhibit loyalty, that he believed there was a benefit 

	

10 	to it. We're not arguing that element, but he didn't 

	

11 	personally profit, and that's something that courts recognized 

	

12 	is a relevant factor in sentencing. 

	

13 	 We don't have -- 

	

14 	 THE COURT: I agree with you that it's relevant. The 

	

15 	government, though, they have several things, probably their 

	

16 	main theme is general deterrence. And what they're saying, in 

	

17 	essence, is we've had now 20, 30 years of criminal prosecutions 

	

18 	for insider trading, and the problem appears to arguably have 

	

19 	gotten worse, and certainly seems to be still a very 

	

20 	substantial problem at the least. So they argue there has to 

	

21 	be heavier penalties. 

	

22 	 The temptation to commit this crime is considerable. 

	

23 	At least prior to the government's use of wiretaps -- which it 

	

24 	was only as a matter of law driven to because other techniques 

	

25 	were insufficient -- these were very hard crimes to detect. 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C. 
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1 	And therefore, they argue a substantial sentence has to be 

	

2 	imposed if general deterrence is going to be achieved. 

	

3 	 What about that? 

	

4 	 MR. CARPENITO: Well, Judge, you will not be surprised 

	

5 	to hear that I believe with your statement in Adelman that in a 

	

6 	white collar crime, even a shorter period of time -- 

	

7 	 THE COURT: Well, it was actually Adelson, but Adelson 

	

8 	is comparable to Adelman. Go ahead. 

	

9 	 MR. CARPENITO: I apologize, Judge. 

	

10 	 Your Honor, I think in particular with white collar 

	

11 	crime, with white collar defendants, I think that any period of 

	

12 	jail time is a substantial period of imprisonment. I think 

	

13 	even from my own personal experiences and everything that I 

	

14 	have seen in my short career at this point, Judge, just being a 

	

15 	convicted felon for a white collar crime is a considerable 

	

16 	hurdle forever. 

	

17 	 THE COURT: That was certainly the classic view. Long 

	

18 	before the guidelines, that was the widely-held view, but to 

	

19 	some degree it was rejected by the sentencing commission, as 

	

20 	the guideline ranges here suggest, and more importantly, 

	

21 	because it's certainly well known that I'm not totally 

	

22 	persuaded of the approach taken by many of the guidelines. But 

	

23 	more generally, if it were true what you say, then the problem 

	

24 	would have been substantially diminished by the modest type of 

	

25 	sentences that were handed out, and that doesn't seem to have 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C. 
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1 	been the case. 

	

2 	 MR. CARPENITO: To be honest, your Honor, I think that 

	

3 	some people are going to make certain decisions. I think Don 

	

4 	had made a bad decision. 

	

5 	 I think that on other stocks, I think the evidence 

	

6 	here -- if you just read the complaint and the charging 

	

7 	documents -- will show that Donald made good decisions and 

	

8 	showed restraint in situations where the government charges in 

	

9 	their documents he was tipped by Mr. Freeman. There was no 

	

10 	charge, was no evidence that he traded on multiple occasions. 

	

11 	One really would have to be a psychiatrist to figure out why at 

	

12 	given times certain people make certain decisions. 

	

13 	 THE COURT: Well, I don't know about that, because the 

	

14 	success record of psychiatrists is perhaps comparable to the 

	

15 	Mets, in any event, but I understand your point. 

	

16 	 MR. CARPENITO: Judge, I guess my point is I think 

	

17 	it's a strained argument to say that someone who sees 

	

18 	Mr. Longueuil go away for a period of 12 to 18 months or 

	

19 	something in that range, sees him pay back $1.25 million that 

	

20 	he never actually received, who reads of him on Google compared 

	

21 	to an insatiable yuppie hedge fund manager who wants nothing 

	

22 	more than inside information and committed crime and threw 

	

23 	legality to the wind is going to say to themselves, well, if he 

	

24 	got 46 months, I would never think about indulging in this 

	

25 	conduct, but 18 months, cost benefit analysis, I'll take a 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C. 
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1 	crack at it. Respectfully, I think it's a strained argument by 

	

2 	the government. 

	

3 	 Judge, a day in jail -- I remember my first supervisor 

	

4 	saying to me his view on jail was the first day was the only 

	

5 	day that really mattered, because going through the process of 

	

6 	being processed for prison and going to your cell is about the 

	

7 	worst it's going to get. And the amount of time there -- and 

	

8 	he was telling a young aggressive prosecutor, admittedly Judge, 

	

9 	someone that thought that the guidelines was the only thing 

	

10 	that existed, who basically believed because the guidelines 

	

11 	said it, it must be true. He was talking to me about why I 

	

12 	should be a little more accepting and understanding of 

	

13 	arguments was because in the mind of most defendants, that 

	

14 	first day is really all it takes to make sure they never do it 

	

15 	again. 

	

16 	 THE COURT: You're making two different points, and I 

	

17 	don't think it's good to lump them together. You're saying it 

	

18 	may take only a very modest sentence to deter your client from 

	

19 	future misconduct, so-called specific deterrence, but that's 

	

20 	not the issue that I'm focusing on. 

	

21 	 I think it is a reasonable assumption that if you told 

	

22 	some third party that if you commit insider trading you will 

	

23 	only spend a day in jail they will say, "Bring it on." So you 

	

24 	are quite right, of course, in saying that it's much, much, 

	

25 	much harder to say what the general deterrent impact of 18 
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1 	versus 46 or whatever, that the range we're considering now, in 

	

2 	effect, but it's general deterrence that I think we need to 

	

3 	address. 

	

4 	 MR. CARPENITO: I agree, your Honor, and I apologize. 

	

5 	I think general deterrence really is accomplished most 

	

6 	adequately by what we have seen over the past six months. The 

	

7 	office has done a tremendous job of rooting out insider 

	

8 	trading, high profile prosecution, large droves of it, many 

	

9 	guilty pleas, many convictions. I think, your Honor, that is 

	

10 	what is going to impact general deterrence, not the specific 

	

11 	sentence in each case. 

	

12 	 And again, your Honor, I don't think a white collar 

	

13 	defendant, someone who is in a position to obtain material 

	

14 	non-public information or utilizes non-public information would 

	

15 	scoff at a sentence in the 12- to 18-month range and think that 

	

16 	it is a fair cost benefit analysis. 

	

17 	 And Judge, that also is coupled with the fact that I 

	

18 	don't think in this day and age a defendant can reasonably 

	

19 	believe they're going to keep the money once they get caught. 

	

20 	Your Honor has been very strict about restitution orders and 

	

21 	forfeiture. The government has been strict about restitution 

	

22 	and forfeiture. And I think Mr. Longueuil's prosecution is an 

	

23 	example for the effect of forfeiture and restitution. He's 

	

24 	paying back substantially all of his net worth when he didn't 

	

25 	profit from the trades in question, and I think that has a 
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1 	great deterrent impact. 

	

2 	 THE COURT: We'll come back in you a minute, but let 

	

3 	me hear from the government. 

	

4 	 MR. WEITZMAN: Thank you, your Honor. 

	

5 	 Defense counsel would have the Court believe that this 

	

6 	was a, quote, bad decision, a momentary lapse in an otherwise 

	

7 	law-abiding life. That simply is not so, and your Honor has 

	

8 	heard testimony directly to that point. And Mr. Longueuil has 

	

9 	pleaded guilty to count three, which disputes that point. 

	

10 	Count three charges Mr. Longueuil with participating in a 

	

11 	conspiracy with Samir Barai and Noah Freeman for approximately 

	

12 	four years, from 2006 to 2010, in trying to obtain and trade on 

	

13 	inside information. 

	

14 	 This was a long-term, repeated and dedicated effort on 

	

15 	the part of Mr. Longueuil, Mr. Barai, Mr. Freeman and others to 

	

16 	obtain inside information. The way they did that is by 

	

17 	hiring -- among other things, they would hire independent 

	

18 	consultants, people who your Honor heard and saw named in 

	

19 	e-mails, people who went by code names, code names like 

	

20 	"Tikka," or "the German," or "Saigon." As Mr. Freeman 

	

21 	testified at Winifred Jiau's trial, "Saigon" was the last one 

	

22 	that he testified about. These are individuals, some of whom 

	

23 	worked at public companies and some of whom did not work at 

	

24 	public companies but had connections at public companies 

	

25 	because they worked at distributors, and they would try to 
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1 	obtain from their sales contacts at public companies revenue 

	

2 	numbers. 

	

3 	 THE COURT: Let me ask you this, again looking at the 

	

4 	list that is on your adversary's sentencing memo -- and there 

	

5 	may be other cases you want to bring to my attention, but, for 

	

6 	example, I think the single highest sentence on this list which 

	

7 	was still a non-guidelines sentence was the recent sentence of 

	

8 	Danielle Chiesi in the Rajaratnam case who engaged -- from 

	

9 	everything at least I understand -- in far more serious, 

	

10 	prolonged, extensive insider trading than anything that is 

	

11 	charged against Mr. Longueuil. Judge Holwell, who had the 

	

12 	benefit of a long trial there, so he knew the facts intimately, 

	

13 	gave her 30 months. So what is it about Mr. Longueuil that 

	

14 	would warrant a higher sentence than that? 

	

15 	 MR. WEITZMAN: Your Honor, it may have been more long 

	

16 	term, I wouldn't describe it as more serious. In fact, I would 

	

17 	describe it as somewhat analogous with a limitation. She was a 

	

18 	hedge fund employee, and she tipped Mr. Rajaratnam about M&A 

	

19 	deals and other information. She also tipped her boss at the 

	

20 	hedge fund about those same deals. That is analogous to what 

	

21 	Mr. Longueuil did, which is that he shared inside information 

	

22 	with other portfolio managers and he provided the inside 

	

23 	information or the trades based on the inside information to 

	

24 	his bosses at his hedge funds. So it's an analogous position. 

	

25 	 There is an important distinction, which is that she 
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1 	did not plead guilty and she wasn't -- her sentence wasn't 

	

2 	enhanced for engaging in obstruction of justice. 

	

3 	Mr. Longueuil's was. After finding out that the government was 

	

4 	investigating insider trading at hedge funds through expert 

	

5 	networks -- your Honor knows the facts -- he destroyed 

	

6 	evidence, evidence that probably would have enhanced his 

	

7 	sentencing here, your Honor. But he destroyed evidence on his 

	

8 	flash drive. Mr. Freeman testified about how they kept flash 

	

9 	drives in order to maintain their network, their sources off 

	

10 	the hedge fund network. He destroyed his flash drive. He 

	

11 	destroyed drives in an effort to stymie the government's 

	

12 	investigation. I think that's very serious conduct. 

	

13 	 I would also point out, your Honor, this is not the 

	

14 	highest sentence meted out in the Southern District, it's the 

	

15 	highest sentence in this table. I'm familiar with another 

	

16 	sentence, which is a trial in front of Judge Sullivan, a hedge 

	

17 	fund portfolio manager who traded based on a M&A deal, mergers 

	

18 	and acquisition deal. He was sentenced I believe to seven 

	

19 	years in the Contervenus (ph) case. I think that the sentences 

	

20 	run the gambit. I think defense counsel is correct in saying 

	

21 	that the majority of them are below guidelines sentences. 

	

22 	 If I may address that point, your Honor. 

	

23 	 THE COURT: Yes. Just before you get to that, the 

	

24 	one -- I don't know anything about this case, so you need to 

	

25 	tell me more about this case. The one who had the guideline 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C. 

(212) 805-0300 

Case 15-570, Document 11, 03/02/2015, 1449929, Page61 of 86



15 
17TTLONS 	 Sentence 

	

1 	range identical to the defendant here on the list provided by 

	

2 	defense counsel was someone named John Marshall -- who I am 

	

3 	assuming is not the Former Chief Justice of the United 

	

4 	States -- and he received 18 months. Yes, 18 months plus one 

	

5 	year of home confinement from Judge Swain. Do you know the 

	

6 	facts of that case? 

	

7 	 MR. WEITZMAN: Unfortunately, I don't. I don't know 

	

8 	why Judge Swain sentenced him to a below-guidelines sentence of 

	

9 	18 months. I don't know what his position was, whether he was 

	

10 	a tipper or tippee, whether it was a single incident or a 

	

11 	long-term conspiracy that he was involved in. I simply don't 

	

12 	know. I apologize, your Honor. 

	

13 	 THE COURT: Maybe defense counsel -- it was in his 

	

14 	submission, he may be able to tell me more about it when we 

	

15 	come back, but let's go on. 

	

16 	 MR. WEITZMAN: So I think it's unfair to say this was 

	

17 	a lapse in judgment. I also think it's unfair to say that 

	

18 	Mr. Longueuil was merely a third-tier tippee. He was not. He 

	

19 	at times would receive information from people, either inside 

	

20 	companies or independent consultants, and he would provide the 

	

21 	information to Samir Barai and Noah Freeman, meaning he was 

	

22 	also a tipper as well as a tippee in that instance. 

	

23 	 You heard testimony, for example, from Noah Freeman 

	

24 	that Mr. Longueuil had an analyst stationed in Taiwan who had 

	

25 	contacts in various public companies who they code named 
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1 	"Cha-Ching," because his information was typically money, they 

	

2 	can trust it, and they could make trades based on that 

	

3 	information. 

	

4 	 In addition, your Honor, it's I think incorrect, as 

	

5 	defense counsel does -- and I'm sorry to focus on some of the 

	

6 	incorrect statements, but I think it's important for your Honor 

	

7 	to get a full view of the complexity and sophistication of the 

	

8 	scheme. It's incorrect to say that Mr. Longueuil didn't profit 

	

9 	from his criminal activity and that that wasn't his motive. It 

	

10 	most certainly was. Whether or not Mr. Longueuil profited from 

	

11 	the single trade to which he pled guilty in a substantive count 

	

12 	is irrelevant considering that his motive in engaging in the 

	

13 	conspiracy was to earn significant profits. 

	

14 	 He was paid as a research analyst and then a managing 

	

15 	director at Empire Capital based on the profits in his sector, 

	

16 	the semiconductor sector. And based in part on his inside 

	

17 	information, he was able to leverage into a better position, a 

	

18 	more profitable position at SAC Capital, for which he was 

	

19 	guaranteed a salary over the course of approximately two-plus 

	

20 	years of $4.2 million as a guaranteed salary. That's a direct 

	

21 	motivation. That is the motive for which people engage in 

	

22 	insider trading. 

	

23 	 THE COURT: I certainly agree that he was not acting 

	

24 	out of eleemosynary motivations, and I think that is relevant. 

	

25 	I would note that I also think it's artificial, as I expressed 
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1 	myself many times in many contexts, to base the sentence in too 

	

2 	great respect on either gain or loss. Those are not 

	

3 	irrelevant, but it's much more important to get a feel for the 

	

4 	very kind of thing you were talking about, which is was this a 

	

5 	human being who otherwise led a laudable life who made a 

	

6 	momentary mistake or was this someone who over a period of time 

	

7 	embraced a mode of conduct that he knew was unlawful because he 

	

8 	felt it would benefit him directly or indirectly in a material 

	

9 	respect. I think that is important part of any sentence. 

	

10 	 MR. WEITZMAN: And I understand your Honor's point. 

	

11 	Echoing Adelson, your Honor, Adelson obviously is different. 

	

12 	 THE COURT: Totally different. 

	

13 	 MR. WEITZMAN: There are were losses in hundreds of 

	

14 	millions of dollars. 

	

15 	 THE COURT: My only point was that, as in Adelson, as 

	

16 	in every sentence that this Court imposes, it is part of my 

	

17 	duty to plum as best one can the character of the human being 

	

18 	before me. What is so typical of too many persons who find 

	

19 	themselves in the situation of white collar defendants is part 

	

20 	of their life is often very laudable, and that's not 

	

21 	irrelevant, but there's another part of their life, quite 

	

22 	concealed from their loved ones, from their friends, from their 

	

23 	community, that is expressed as a more venal and troubling 

	

24 	character, and all of that has to be taken account. 

	

25 	 MR. WEITZMAN: I agree, your Honor. I don't mean to 
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1 	suggest that Mr. Longueuil didn't use any legitimate means to 

	

2 	conduct his research. He obviously did. He obviously did his 

	

3 	homework. As I'm sure his counsel will tell you, he did 

	

4 	legitimate work. 

	

5 	 But he also used, in order to gain an illegal edge, 

	

6 	for a long period of time, inside sources and independent 

	

7 	consultants who would provide him with inside information. And 

	

8 	he shared that information with others, and his co-conspirators 

	

9 	in the hedge fund community shared it with him. And the profit 

	

10 	motive is enormous. The amount of money that people in his 

	

11 	position can earn as young adults is very large, and for that 

	

12 	reason, the need to deter more generally is great, with a 

	

13 	prison sentence, your Honor. 

	

14 	 In addition, as your Honor noted, it's a sophisticated 

	

15 	crime to catch. It's sophisticated because it's primarily over 

	

16 	the phone or over communication devices that can't always be 

	

17 	tracked easily. There aren't that many co-conspirators 

	

18 	necessarily. The profits are huge at these hedge funds as a 

	

19 	result of leverage, for example. And the sophisticated nature 

	

20 	of the scheme is borne out in the methods they use to hide what 

	

21 	they were doing. They use code names. As I already said, 

	

22 	"Saigon," "Tikka," and "the German" were some of their sources. 

	

23 	They tried to not use the hedge fund servers for e-mail 

	

24 	communication. Mr. Longueuil specifically used an e-mail 

	

25 	address that was only numbers, I think it was 277413@gmail.com  
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1 	in order to hide his identity so that no one would be able to 

	

2 	track who was sending those e-mails if anyone was tracking his 

	

3 	e-mail. At times he or other conspirators would communicate 

	

4 	over Skype so that they could not be tracked because they 

	

5 	believed that the government cannot track Skype or retain 

	

6 	Skype. There were a number of sophisticated methods used in 

	

7 	order to protect this scheme, including the use of flash drives 

	

8 	and hard drives. And that really goes to show the need to 

	

9 	exact a serious, substantial prison sentence at or near the 

	

10 	guidelines range in order to deter others from committing this 

	

11 	crime. 

	

12 	 There is one other point I would like to make, which 

	

13 	is in response to footnote 3 of defense counsel's submission. 

	

14 	The footnote suggests, I think incorrectly, that -- on page 5, 

	

15 	that the profits to Empire Capital as a result of this trade 

	

16 	based on inside information was merely $63,000, and that's 

	

17 	simply incorrect. On May 28, when Empire Capital took the 

	

18 	position at Mr. Longueuil's urging, they earned profits above 

	

19 	$1.2 million on that trade because the stock of Marvell jumped 

	

20 	over 22 percent after its announcement. 

	

21 	 On May 29, Empire Capital earned an additional $1.1 

	

22 	million after that announcement by putting on -- essentially 

	

23 	doubling down, putting on an even larger position on May 29. 

	

24 	The total profits to Empire Capital was approximately $2.3 

	

25 	million surrounding the May 29 trade. 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C. 

(212) 805-0300 

Case 15-570, Document 11, 03/02/2015, 1449929, Page66 of 86



20 
17TTLONS 	 Sentence 

	

1 	 The way I understand defense counsel gets to the 

	

2 	$63,000 number is by looking at the trading activity that 

	

3 	follows the purchases of Marvell that followed long after 

	

4 	May 29 or the next month or two, purchases and sales after the 

	

5 	quarterly report, which were not as profitable because they 

	

6 	weren't based on inside information, and therefore it reduced 

	

7 	their profit margin. I don't think that's an accurate measure 

	

8 	of the profits here, and I think that the real measure of 

	

9 	profits is what I just summarized above. 

	

10 	 I think, in sum, your Honor, the obstruction of 

	

11 	justice here is severe. It was a serious offense to the 

	

12 	ability of law enforcement to enforce the securities laws here, 

	

13 	and it deserves a substantial enhancement. And for that 

	

14 	reason, I think that it distinguishes Mr. Longueuil from the 

	

15 	sentences that are summarized in his submission. 

	

16 	 THE COURT: Thank you so much. Let me hear again from 

	

17 	defense counsel, then we'll hear from the defendant if he 

	

18 	wishes to be heard. 

	

19 	 MR. CARPENITO: Thank you, your Honor. 

	

20 	 If you may, I will start where AUSA Weitzman left off. 

	

21 	I don't think we're far apart, but we are in disagreement about 

	

22 	the calculation in footnote number 3. Your Honor, the profits 

	

23 	that are being utilized, I don't disagree under law, Judge, the 

	

24 	theory that, if successful at a trial, the government could 

	

25 	proffer as their loss theory. The intent of the footnote and 
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1 	the reason it is only a footnote is one of the things that we 

	

2 	believe is relevant is what the potential profit was to 

	

3 	Mr. Longueuil as an employee on that trade. And our point is, 

	

4 	to take a calculation which was provided us by the government, 

	

5 	and show that at the end of the day, if his conduct went 

	

6 	undetected and he was given a bonus on the trading in Marvell, 

	

7 	the numbers would have been based off of the $63,000, that was 

	

8 	our intent, and the profit would be based off of it. 

	

9 	 The other thing I want to point out to your Honor is 

	

10 	the $1.25 million total, that this was a paper profit, it was 

	

11 	not as if there was a sale that locked in the profit for that 

	

12 	day. But we agreed to the number. We're merely laying out 

	

13 	again, your Honor, there are other ways to calculate this, and 

	

14 	we agreed to the least favorable way. 

	

15 	 THE COURT: I guess I'm having trouble finding this 

	

16 	debate to be that material. 

	

17 	 MR. CARPENITO: I agree. 

	

18 	 THE COURT: I don't think there can be any doubt that 

	

19 	your client committed this crime for self-interested purposes. 

	

20 	 MR. CARPENITO: That's correct. 

	

21 	 THE COURT: And if it was short-term gain or long-term 

	

22 	benefit, so what? He wasn't doing it -- this is not a case of 

	

23 	where he was Robin Hood or something like that. 

	

24 	 But I do want to -- the government distinguishes, at 

	

25 	least those of these cases that you cite that I'm familiar 
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1 	with -- and some of them I'm not familiar with, like the John 

	

2 	Marshall one -- by noting the obstruction of justice. So what 

	

3 	about that? 

	

4 	 MR. CARPENITO: Correct, Judge. And your Honor, I 

	

5 	really take issue with the word "severe," his characterization 

	

6 	that the obstruction was severe here. Your Honor, obstruction 

	

7 	is bad. My client will stand up and tell you that he's ashamed 

	

8 	of his conduct and obstructing justice is never acceptable. 

	

9 	But the characterization is based upon a salacious number of 

	

10 	facts around the way that my client discarded a hard drive. 

	

11 	It's salacious. The news loved it. We all read it every day. 

	

12 	Believe me, we saw it over and over again. 

	

13 	 But to me, obstruction -- the typical obstruction that 

	

14 	we see in a prosecution are based more upon things like notice, 

	

15 	your Honor. This is not a case where Mr. Longueuil believed he 

	

16 	was under investigation. This is not a case where an FBI agent 

	

17 	had knocked on his door, where he was notified he was a target, 

	

18 	a subject, or even a witness. This is not a case where he 

	

19 	found out someone close to him or even involved in his 

	

20 	conspiracy was a part of the conduct. This is not a situation 

	

21 	where he already had counsel that advised him not to the 

	

22 	destroy anything. This is not a situation where he worked 

	

23 	somewhere where he received a legal hold notice or some sort of 

	

24 	memorandum telling him that he is now under an obligation to 

	

25 	maintain an item. 
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1 	 So I think these are significant factors between a 

	

2 	typical prosecution. And your Honor, I'm always ready to say 

	

3 	that there are mitigating factors to obstruction, but I think 

	

4 	these are factors that when coupled -- even the most severe 

	

5 	sanction for obstruction, if it was a complete crime in and of 

	

6 	itself prosecuted individually, would lead to the same 

	

7 	sentence. And your Honor, if he pled to that separately, it 

	

8 	would be a concurrent sentence. 

	

9 	 I think, your Honor, you'll hear from my client that 

	

10 	he intends to go forth, and when he does leave whatever 

	

11 	punishment is meted out to him and tell those around him, 

	

12 	anyone who will listen that they should not go down the road 

	

13 	that he went down. But to call it severe because of the 

	

14 	Hollywood aspects of it that make it sound more salacious I 

	

15 	don't think is fair. Severe to me is knowing that you have a 

	

16 	legal obligation, you were told by someone that you could not 

	

17 	destroy that document and you destroyed it in the face of that 

	

18 	instruction. You were aware you were a defendant, you were 

	

19 	aware you were a witness, you were aware -- 

	

20 	 THE COURT: I'm not sure that I follow that argument. 

	

21 	So let's say you committed a murder, and then even though you 

	

22 	lacked counsel, you were under no specific legal obligation to 

	

23 	retain the murder weapon, you threw the murder weapon in the 

	

24 	river because you didn't want the police to ever find it. Why 

	

25 	wouldn't that be just as, to use your term, salacious, as it 
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1 	would be if you threw the weapon in the river after you had 

	

2 	counsel or after you were told don't destroy the weapon or 

	

3 	whatever? 

	

4 	 MR. CARPENITO: Your Honor, I think, in fairness, 

	

5 	everyone knows they shouldn't kill people, everyone knows they 

	

6 	shouldn't have a gun, everyone knows discarding a gun after a 

	

7 	murder is something they shouldn't do. 

	

8 	 THE COURT: And your client knew, as he has already 

	

9 	admitted, to his credit, that he had engaged in conspiracy to 

	

10 	commit insider trading, and he knew that this was part of the 

	

11 	evidence of that. And his motive for destroying it wasn't 

	

12 	because, "Gee, it's an old computer, I think I'll get a new 

	

13 	one," it was so it would make it harder for his misconduct to 

	

14 	be traced. I'm having real trouble why that is not 

	

15 	straightforward obstruction of justice. 

	

16 	 MR. CARPENITO: I think, your Honor, that it is 

	

17 	straightforward obstruction, that's why he took the 

	

18 	enhancement. What I have taken issue with, and I thought I 

	

19 	said it at the beginning, your Honor, is the characterization 

	

20 	that this is somewhat more severe than your average -- as if 

	

21 	there's average obstruction, but another obstruction charge. 

	

22 	 The other thing that is relevant, and it's pretty 

	

23 	clear from the record, is this was the not first article that 

	

24 	talked about these Wall Street hedge fund investigations. It 

	

25 	was not the first time. John Canute sent e-mails out that my 
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1 	client was CC'd on that saying the government asked him to 

	

2 	cooperate and was seeking information about insider trading, 

	

3 	and he did not destroy the materials after that. 

	

4 	 No one is making excuses for the conduct, Judge, but I 

	

5 	think under 3553(a), it's my duty to explain to you that I 

	

6 	think there are things that your Honor can consider as less 

	

7 	reprehensible, perhaps, or not severe as the government 

	

8 	characterizes it. I do think, your Honor, at least from my 

	

9 	humble position, it matters if you know you have a legal 

	

10 	obligation to maintain a document or that you have been 

	

11 	obstructive, respectfully. 

	

12 	 THE COURT: All right. Let me hear from the 

	

13 	defendant. 

	

14 	 THE DEFENDANT: Your Honor, I wrote this statement 

	

15 	myself, I'm a little nervous today, so I apologize in advance 

	

16 	that I have to reference it. 

	

17 	 THE COURT: That's fine, go ahead. 

	

18 	 THE DEFENDANT: Your Honor, three months ago I stood 

	

19 	before you and admitted to securities fraud conspiracy, 

	

20 	disposing of external had drives related to my research. I 

	

21 	continue to accept full responsibility, and will forever be 

	

22 	remorseful for those actions. When I look back, I am appalled 

	

23 	at the way I discarded those external drives. 

	

24 	 I seek the public's and the Court's forgiveness for my 

	

25 	mistakes. I only have one life to live and I have permanently 
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1 	tainted it. The tremendous amount of shame and embarrassment I 

	

2 	feel never leave me, and I will be apologizing to my family and 

	

3 	friends for the rest of my life. I forever have to look each 

	

4 	loved one in their eye and feel their anger and disappointment. 

	

5 	As the Court may recall, as soon as I made the decision to 

	

6 	plead and accept responsibility for my actions, I offered to 

	

7 	continue to offer my full cooperation to the government in any 

	

8 	manner possible. 

	

9 	 I made mistakes. I crossed the line. I broke the 

	

10 	law. But those actions are not representative of who I am or 

	

11 	the life I lead. Your Honor, if you read the letters sent on 

	

12 	my behalf, I was humbled to recall some of the charitable work 

	

13 	I did long ago and how I helped inspire others in various ways. 

	

14 	The letters brought a smile to my face, and it breaks my heart 

	

15 	to know I disappointed those same people. Many of them are 

	

16 	sitting with me here today. 

	

17 	 I want to caution others before they cross the line 

	

18 	like I did. I ruined my life. I am forever associated with 

	

19 	greed and crime, and this cannot be fixed. I have lost and am 

	

20 	barred from life from the only industry that I have ever worked 

	

21 	in, and I have to learn a new career to earn money to live and 

	

22 	take care of my family. I've ruined away, and facing loved 

	

23 	ones is extremely painful. Describing my current situation to 

	

24 	family and friends is gut wrenching. I am devastated and very 

	

25 	embarrassed for what I have destroyed. 
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1 	 People outside looking in should recognize I nearly 

	

2 	destroyed my family. Hopefully, my experience will provide 

	

3 	sufficient deterrence to others. I made a mistake. Do not use 

	

4 	inside information and do not obstruct justice. I want to get 

	

5 	out and speak to young people about my mistakes so they can 

	

6 	learn not to cross the line. As a result of my actions, I am a 

	

7 	broken man and will never get my original life back. 

	

8 	 I have made some extremely bad decisions, but that 

	

9 	does not translate into a lifetime or career of gross 

	

10 	misconduct and profit. I'm not the caricature portrayed in the 

	

11 	press, rather the contrary. I try and give everything to 

	

12 	others. I have a strong history of selflessness and honorable 

	

13 	achievements through helping my family and many volunteer 

	

14 	activities. I made a few decisions that proved to be seriously 

	

15 	destructive. I will never commit a crime again. I'm a loving 

	

16 	fiance, a loving brother, a loving son, a loving friend, and a 

	

17 	loving community service volunteer. Despite my transgressions, 

	

18 	I consider myself to be very lucky because of my inner circle 

	

19 	of family and friends. Not everybody has such amazing people 

	

20 	surrounding them. 

	

21 	 Again, I take full responsibility for my mistakes. As 

	

22 	I stated previously before your Honor, I have learned a lot 

	

23 	from this experience and my past decisions, and I look forward 

	

24 	to applying these lessons and teaching others from my mistakes 

	

25 	as I move forward with my life. I am dedicated to rebuilding 
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1 	my reputation and eager to start my own family and continue 

	

2 	giving back to my community. Thank you. 

	

3 	 THE COURT: Thank you. 

	

4 	 So it was interesting to hear defense counsel start 

	

5 	with the comment from Judge Nevas, because virtually every 

	

6 	judge I know holds the view that the one part of the job that 

	

7 	we neither like nor feel wholly equipped to undertake is 

	

8 	sentencing, to pass judgment on another human being when all of 

	

9 	us have frailties of our own, to deprive a fellow human being 

	

10 	of his or her liberty, the liberty that is a great gift of 

	

11 	being an American, is a task that is intimidating to any judge. 

	

12 	 And in some ways, it's made more difficult in white 

	

13 	collar cases, at least those where there is not a victim who 

	

14 	has suffered the kind of severe harm that victims of physical 

	

15 	violence or drug violence or the like suffer; which is not to 

	

16 	say there are not significant victims of insider trading, there 

	

17 	are, but it's of a different nature. 

	

18 	 And I guess part of the reason that -- as this list 

	

19 	defense counsel has provided illustrates -- many judges are 

	

20 	uncomfortable with the guidelines either generally or in these 

	

21 	kinds of cases is because in some ways they ask a judge to 

	

22 	forego his or her responsibility to deal, difficult though it 

	

23 	may be, harsh though it may be, with the reality of the crime, 

	

24 	the human being, the needs of society, and all the other 

	

25 	factors, the multiple factors that go into forming a sentence, 
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1 	and instead defer to the abstract arithmetic judgments of a 

	

2 	sentencing commission that is not dealing with actual human 

	

3 	beings at all. 

	

4 	 This case is at least as difficult as any I have 

	

5 	described, because the letters that have attested to 

	

6 	Mr. Longueuil's general character, for which I am very 

	

7 	grateful, certainly demonstrate there is much good in this 

	

8 	person. And frankly, I don't fully accept his own statement a 

	

9 	minute ago suggesting that in effect his life is over, his 

	

10 	career is ruined and so forth, because in fact someone of his 

	

11 	character and someone of his talent and someone of his 

	

12 	sensitivity I feel confident will, in the fullness of time, 

	

13 	lead a productive and useful life. 

	

14 	 But there is a bedrock of hard facts here that can't 

	

15 	be ignored. The crime was a serious one. The crime was one 

	

16 	that he knew completely was unlawful. The crime was, in the 

	

17 	Court's view, not a one-time aberration, the crime was one that 

	

18 	has infiltrated too much of the business of this country. The 

	

19 	crime was seriously compounded by the obstruction that 

	

20 	followed. The notion that, even putting general deterrence 

	

21 	aside for the moment, a serious financial crime coupled with 

	

22 	obstruction of the sort the defendant engaged in here should 

	

23 	not be met by serious punishment would, in this Court's view, 

	

24 	be a flagrant flouting of the most elementary rules of law and 

	

25 	morality. 
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1 	 The hardest part of the sentence is the general 

	

2 	deterrence issue. I think the government makes a convincing 

	

3 	case that prior sentences have not achieved what the courts 

	

4 	thought they would achieve. Defense counsel made the argument 

	

5 	about how even short sentences have a greater impact with 

	

6 	someone of the background of Mr. Longueuil and other similarly 

	

7 	situated than they do in certain other instances. And it was 

	

8 	in part on that theory that modest sentences have historically 

	

9 	been given in white collar cases. And yet, they don't seem to 

	

10 	have done the job, at least so far as insider trading is 

	

11 	concerned. 

	

12 	 The difficulty is that it's easy to see that a 

	

13 	sentence of a month or two is not going to have a meaningful 

	

14 	general deterrent effect. But it's much harder to say oh, 

	

15 	three years will have a greater deterrent effect than two years 

	

16 	or four years will have a greater deterrent effect than three 

	

17 	years or whatever. There are no meaningful measurements of 

	

18 	this, and criminologists have not been very successful, in such 

	

19 	studies as there have been, in making that calibration. And so 

	

20 	we're dealing here with a somewhat blunt instrument when it 

	

21 	deals with questions of general deterrence. Nevertheless, that 

	

22 	is a factor that I think the Court has to weigh in the balance, 

	

23 	like all the factors under Section 3553(a) which I have 

	

24 	considered. 

	

25 	 In the end, I think the guideline range here is both 
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1 	artificial and does not reasonably capture the multitude of 

	

2 	variables that this defendant's case presents, but I think that 

	

3 	the sentence suggested by defense counsel of 18 months -- and I 

	

4 	understand I put him in a difficult spot -- would not be 

	

5 	sufficient to achieve all the factors under Section 3553(a). 

	

6 	 And weighing all that, I come to the conclusion that, 

	

7 	were it not for the obstruction, the right sentence would be 

	

8 	two years, but that some additional punishment has to be added 

	

9 	for the obstruction. So the sentence of the Court is that the 

	

10 	defendant is sentenced to 30 months in prison, to be followed 

	

11 	by two years of supervised release on terms I will get to in a 

	

12 	moment. 

	

13 	 The probation office recommends a $10,000 fine, but I 

	

14 	don't think any fine is called for, given the substantial other 

	

15 	financial obligations that have already been undertaken by the 

	

16 	defendant in this case. So no fine will be imposed. There is, 

	

17 	however, a $200 mandatory special assessment that must be paid. 

	

18 	 The terms of supervised release are, first, the 

	

19 	mandatory conditions that the defendant shall not commit any 

	

20 	other federal, state or local crime; the defendant shall not 

	

21 	illegally possess a controlled substance; the defendant shall 

	

22 	not possess a firearm or destructive device; and that the 

	

23 	defendant shall cooperate in the collection of DNA. The fifth 

	

24 	mandatory condition, the drug testing condition, is suspended 

	

25 	based on the Court's determination that the defendant faces a 
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1 	low risk of future substance abuse. 

	

2 	 There will also be imposed the standard conditions of 

	

3 	supervision one through 13 that appear on the face of the 

	

4 	judgment and will be gone over with the defendant by the 

	

5 	probation officer when he reports to begin his period of 

	

6 	supervised release. 

	

7 	 And finally, there are the special conditions: First, 

	

8 	that the defendant shall participate in a mental health program 

	

9 	as approved by the probation office of the standard terms of 

	

10 	conditions; second, that the defendant shall provide the 

	

11 	probation officer with access to any requests financial 

	

12 	information; and third, that the defendant, within 72 hours of 

	

13 	his release from custody, will report to the nearest probation 

	

14 	officer to begin his period of supervised release, and he will 

	

15 	be supervised by the district of his residence. 

	

16 	 Now before we talk about surrender date and appeal, is 

	

17 	there anything else that counsel needs to raise with the Court? 

	

18 	Anything from the government? 

	

19 	 MR. WEITZMAN: Yes, your Honor, in the plea agreement 

	

20 	there was an agreed-upon forfeiture of approximately $1.25 

	

21 	million. I understand that the wire transfer has been made. 

	

22 	We have an order of forfeiture that has been reviewed and 

	

23 	approved by defense counsel that I would like to pass up to 

	

24 	your Honor. 

	

25 	 THE COURT: Yes. 
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1 	 MR. WEITZMAN: I am providing three copies of it, your 

	

2 	Honor. 

	

3 	 THE COURT: All right. This appears fine, so I'm 

	

4 	signing the original right now and handing it to my courtroom 

	

5 	deputy to file. I will sign the other copies later in case 

	

6 	anyone needs a signed copy. 

	

7 	 MR. WEITZMAN: Thank you, your Honor. 

	

8 	 THE COURT: Anything else from the government? 

	

9 	 MR. WEITZMAN: Nothing further from the government. 

	

10 	Thank you. 

	

11 	 THE COURT: From defense counsel? 

	

12 	 MR. CARPENITO: Your Honor, the defendant would just 

	

13 	like to request he be assigned to FCI Otisville satellite camp. 

	

14 	It's close to his family. 

	

15 	 THE COURT: I can't order that, I'm happy to recommend 

	

16 	it. There was a time when the Court's recommendations in that 

	

17 	regard were followed automatically. That's no longer the case 

	

18 	because of prison overcrowding, but I will certainly recommend 

	

19 	it. 

	

20 	 MR. CARPENITO: Thank you very much, your Honor. 

	

21 	 THE COURT: Now Mr. Longueuil, with respect to appeal, 

	

22 	your agreement with the government included a provision you 

	

23 	agreed not appeal a sentence of 46 months or less. 

	

24 	Nevertheless, go over that with your very able counsel, because 

	

25 	if there were any basis to appeal, you would have to file your 
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1 	notice of appeal in ten days. Do you understand? 

	

2 	 THE DEFENDANT: Ten days from today? 

	

3 	 THE COURT: Ten days from the entry of judgment, which 

	

4 	will probably be Monday. 

	

5 	 THE DEFENDANT: I understand. 

	

6 	 THE COURT: But as I said, you did agree not to 

	

7 	appeal. 

	

8 	 THE DEFENDANT: Right. 

	

9 	 THE COURT: Also, if do you decide to appeal and you 

	

10 	can't afford counsel, the Court will appoint one for you free 

	

11 	of charge. Do you understand that? 

	

12 	 THE DEFENDANT: I understand that. 

	

13 	 THE COURT: Very good. Thanks a lot. 

	

14 	 DEPUTY CLERK: Surrender date. 

	

15 	 THE COURT: Sorry, my boss here reminds me that we 

	

16 	have to set a surrender date. Normally that would be 45 days 

	

17 	or so from today, so let's see what that could be. That would 

	

18 	be September -- why don't we say Tuesday, September 13 at 

	

19 	2:00 p.m. to the designated institution. Very good. 

	

20 	 MR. WEITZMAN: Your Honor, I apologize, the government 

	

21 	moves to dismiss the underlying indictment, which has a count 

	

22 	five which was not -- 

	

23 	 THE COURT: Yes, that motion is granted. 

	

24 	 000 
25 
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Case 1:11-cr-00161-JSR Document 113 H10.08/10/11 Pactea.o.t.4._ 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

-v.- 

x 

F:NT 

I I) 

ORDER OF FORFEITURE 

DONALD LONGUEUIL, 

Defendant. 

x 

S1 11 Cr. 	161 	(JSR) 

WHEREAS, on or about March 8, 2011, DONALD LONGUEUIL 

(the 	"defendant"), among others, was charged in a five-count 

Superseding Indictment S1 11 Cr. 161 (JSR) (the "Indictment") 

with conspiracy to commit securities fraud and wire fraud, in 

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371 (Count 

Three); securities fraud, in violation of Title 15, United States 

Code, Sections 78j(b) & 78ff, Title 17, Code of Federal 

Regulations, Section 240.10b-5, and Title 18, United States Code, 

Section 2 (Four); and obstruction of justice, in violation of 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1512(c) and 2 (Count 

Five); 

WHEREAS, the Indictment included a forfeiture 

allegation seeking, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §§ 981(a)(1)(C) and 28 

U.S.C. § 2461, all property, real and personal, that constitutes 

or is derived from proceeds traceable to the commission of the 

securities and wire fraud offenses, including but not limited to 

a sum of money in United States currency which was derived from 
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proceeds traceable to the commission of the wire fraud and 

securities fraud offenses; 

WHEREAS, on or about April 28, 2011, the defendant pled 

guilty to Counts Three and Four of the Indictment and admitted 

the forfeiture allegation, pursuant to a plea agreement with the 

Government, wherein the defendant agreed to forfeit a sum of 

money equal to $1,251,685.00 in United States currency, 

representing the amount of proceeds traceable to the securities 

and wire fraud offenses charged in Counts Three and Four of the 

Indictment; 

WHEREAS, on July 29, 2011, the defendant was sentenced 

and ordered to forfeit $1,251,685.00 in United States currency, 

representing the amount of proceeds traceable to the securities 

and wire fraud offenses charged in Counts Three and Four of the 

Indictment; 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED 

THAT: 

1. As a result of the offenses charged in Count Three 

and Four of the Indictment, for which the defendant pled guilty, 

a money judgment in the amount of $1,251,685.00 in United States 

currency (the "Money Judgment") shall be entered against the 

defendant. 

2. Pursuant to Rule 32.2(b) (4) of the Federal Rules 

of Criminal Procedure, upon entry of this Order of Forfeiture, 

2 
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this Order is final as to the defendant, DONALD LONGUEUIL, and 

shall be deemed part of the sentence of the defendant, and shall 

be included in the judgment of conviction therewith. 

3. Upon execution of this Order of Forfeiture, and 

pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 853, the United States Marshals Service 

shall be authorized to deposit the payments on the Money Judgment 

in the Assets Forfeiture Fund, and the United States shall have 

clear title to such forfeited property. 

4. All payments on the outstanding Money Judgment 

shall be made by postal money order, bank or certified check, or 

wire transfer made payable, in this instance to the United States 

Marshals Service, and delivered by mail or wire transfer to the 

United States Attorney's Office, Southern District of New York, 

Attn: Asset Forfeiture Unit, One St. Andrew's Plaza, New York, 

New York 10007 and shall indicate the defendant's name and case 

number. 

5. Pursuant to Rule 32.2(b)(3) of the Federal Rules 

of Criminal Procedure, upon entry of this Order, the United 

States Attorney's Office is authorized to conduct any discovery 

needed to identify, locate or dispose of forfeitable property, 

including depositions, interrogatories, requests for production 

of documents and the issuance of subpoenas, pursuant to Rule 45 

of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. 

3 
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SO ORDERED: 

LE JED S. 	KOFF 
STATES D STRICT JUDGE 

HON 
UNI 

Case 1:11-cr-00161-JSR Document 113 Filed 08/10/11 Page 4 of 4 

6. The Court shall retain jurisdiction to enforce this 

Order, and to amend it as necessary, pursuant to Rule 32.2(e) of 

the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. 

7. The Clerk of the Court shall forward three 

certified copies of this Order to Assistant United States 

Attorney Sharon Cohen Levin, Chief of the Asset Forfeiture Unit, 

United States Attorney's Office, One St. Andrew's Plaza, New 

York, New York 10007. 

Dated: New Yok, New York 
allyV0,2 2011 

4 
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